
Notice of Meeting

Executive
Thursday, 24th November, 2016 at 
5.00 pm
in the Council Chamber, Council Offices,
Market Street, Newbury

Date of despatch of Agenda:  Wednesday, 16 November 2016

For further information about this Agenda, or to inspect any background documents 
referred to in Part I reports, please contact Democratic Services Team on (01635) 
519462 e-mail: executivecycle@westberks.gov.uk

Further information and Minutes are also available on the Council’s website at 
www.westberks.gov.uk 

Public Document Pack

http://www.westberks.gov.uk/


Agenda - Executive to be held on Thursday, 24 November 2016 (continued)

To: Councillors Dominic Boeck, Anthony Chadley, Jeanette Clifford, Hilary Cole, 
Roger Croft, Lynne Doherty, Marcus Franks, James Fredrickson, 
Graham Jones and Rick Jones

Agenda
Part I Page(s)

1.   Apologies for Absence
To receive apologies for inability to attend the meeting (if any).

2.   Minutes 7 - 16
To approve as a correct record the Minutes of the meeting of the 
Committee held on 20 October 2016.

3.   Declarations of Interest
To remind Members of the need to record the existence and nature of any 
personal, disclosable pecuniary or other registrable interests in items on 
the agenda, in accordance with the Members’ Code of Conduct.

4.   Public Questions
Members of the Executive to answer questions submitted by members of 
the public in accordance with the Executive Procedure Rules contained in 
the Council’s Constitution. (Note: There were no questions submitted 
relating to items not included on this Agenda.)

5.   Petitions
Councillors or Members of the public may present any petition which they 
have received. These will normally be referred to the appropriate 
Committee without discussion.

Items as timetabled in the Forward Plan
Page(s)

6.   Joint Public Protection Partnership (C3158) 17 - 76
(CSP: SLE, MEC and MEC1)
Purpose:  The report proposes the creation of a Joint Committee to 
deliver a shared service arrangement between West Berkshire, 
Wokingham and Bracknell Forest Councils. The new arrangement will be 
known as the Public Protection Partnership (PPP).  

7.   Registering West Berkshire Council as a Registered Provider 
(EX3205)

77 - 86

(CSP: P&S and SLE1)
Purpose: To seek approval for the Council to register as a Registered 
Provider (RP) with the Homes & Communities Agency (HCA).

http://info.westberks.gov.uk/CHttpHandler.ashx?id=38477&p=0


Agenda - Executive to be held on Thursday, 24 November 2016 (continued)

8.   Members' Question(s)
Members of the Executive to answer questions submitted by Councillors 
in accordance with the Executive Procedure Rules contained in the 
Council’s Constitution.

(a)   Question to be answered by the Portfolio Holder for Highways and 
Transport submitted by Councillor Alan Macro  
“For how many hours have the car club vehicles been hired in the last three 
months, per location?”

(b)   Question to be answered by the Portfolio Holder for Community 
Resilience and Partnerships submitted by Councillor Alan Macro  
“Please give the number of complaints about graffiti received by the Council in 
the three months before, and the three months after, the termination of the 
neighbourhood warden service?”

(c)   Question to be answered by the Portfolio Holder for Culture and 
Environment submitted by Councillor Alan Macro  
“Please give the number of complaints about fly tipping, made by members of 
the public, that were received by the Council in the three months before, and 
the three months after, the termination of the neighbourhood warden service.”

9.   Exclusion of Press and Public
RECOMMENDATION: That members of the press and public be excluded 
from the meeting during consideration of the following items as it is likely 
that there would be disclosure of exempt information of the description 
contained in the paragraphs of Schedule 12A of the Local Government 
Act 1972 specified in brackets in the heading of each item. Rule 8.10.4 of 
the Constitution refers.

Part II
10.   Registering West Berkshire Council as a Registered Provider 

(EX3205)
87 - 98

(Paragraph 3 - information relating to financial/business affairs of particular person)
(CSP: P&S and SLE1)
Purpose: To seek approval for the Council to register as a Registered 
Provider (RP) with the Homes & Communities Agency (HCA).

Andy Day
Head of Strategic Support

http://decisionmaking.westberks.gov.uk/ecCatDisplay.aspx?sch=doc&cat=13206&path=13197
http://decisionmaking.westberks.gov.uk/ecCatDisplay.aspx?sch=doc&cat=13206&path=13197


Agenda - Executive to be held on Thursday, 24 November 2016 (continued)

West Berkshire Council Strategy Aims and Priorities
Council Strategy Aims:
BEC – Better educated communities
SLE – A stronger local economy
P&S – Protect and support those who need it
HQL – Maintain a high quality of life within our communities
MEC – Become an even more effective Council
Council Strategy Priorities:
BEC1 – Improve educational attainment
BEC2 – Close the educational attainment gap
SLE1 – Enable the completion of more affordable housing
SLE2 – Deliver or enable key infrastructure improvements in relation to roads, rail, flood 

prevention, regeneration and the digital economy
P&S1 – Good at safeguarding children and vulnerable adults
HQL1 – Support communities to do more to help themselves
MEC1 – Become an even more effective Council

If you require this information in a different format or translation, please contact 
Moira Fraser on telephone (01635) 519045.



DRAFT
Note: These Minutes will remain DRAFT until approved at the next meeting of the Committee

EXECUTIVE
MINUTES OF THE MEETING HELD ON

THURSDAY, 20 OCTOBER 2016
Councillors Present: Dominic Boeck, Jeanette Clifford, Hilary Cole, Lynne Doherty, 
Marcus Franks, James Fredrickson, Graham Jones (Vice-Chair, in the Chair) and Rick Jones

Also Present: Paul Anstey (Environmental Health & Licensing Manager), Robert Bradfield 
(Team Leader (Contracts & Commissioning)), Mel Brain (Housing Strategy and Operations 
Manager), Mike Brook (Library Services Manager), Nick Carter (Chief Executive), Sarah Clarke 
(Legal Services Manager), Trish Guest (Commissioner (BCES)), Peta Stoddart-Crompton 
(Public Relations Officer), Rachael Wardell (Corporate Director - Communities), Robert 
Alexander (Group Executive (Conservatives)), Steve Broughton (Head of Culture & 
Environmental Protection), Stephen Chard (Policy Officer), Councillor Lee Dillon, Councillor 
Adrian Edwards, Councillor Carol Jackson-Doerge, Councillor Mollie Lock and Councillor Alan 
Macro

Apologies for inability to attend the meeting: Councillor Anthony Chadley and Councillor 
Roger Croft

(Councillor Graham Jones in the Chair)

PART I
51. Minutes

The Minutes of the meeting held on 8 September 2016 were approved as a true and 
correct record and signed by the Deputy Leader.

52. Declarations of Interest
Councillor Marcus Franks declared an interest should Sovereign Housing Association be 
referred to during debate on any of the agenda items by virtue of the fact that he was an 
employee of Sovereign, but reported that, as his interest was a personal or a other 
registrable interest, but not a disclosable pecuniary interest, he determined to remain to 
take part in the debate and vote on the matter.

53. Public Questions
A full transcription of the public and Member question and answer sessions are available 
from the following link: Transcription of Q&As.
(a) Question submitted by Mr Jeffrey Kent to the Portfolio Holder for Culture 

and Environment
A question standing in the name of Mr. Jeffrey Kent on the subject of the target date for 
Padworth recycling tip to accept general rubbish and its opening hours was answered by 
the Portfolio Holder for Culture and Environment.

54. Petitions
There were no petitions presented to the Executive. 

55. Library Service Proposals (EX3181)
The Executive considered a report (Agenda Item 6) concerning the recent Needs 
Assessment provided by consultants RedQuadrant and proposals for the future shape of 

Page 5

Agenda Item 2.

http://decisionmaking.westberks.gov.uk/documents/b12538/Questions%20and%20Answers%2020th-Oct-2016%2017.00%20Executive.pdf?T=9


EXECUTIVE - 20 OCTOBER 2016 - MINUTES

the Council’s Library Service, and to seek approval of the proposals for public 
consultation.
By way of background to the report, Councillor Dominic Boeck explained that since 2012 
the Library Service net revenue budget had been reduced from £1.8m to £1.58m. 
Staffing restructures had taken place since that time. 
The Revenue Support Grant settlement announced in December 2015 further increased 
the Council’s savings requirement and a proposal went out to consultation to save £690k 
from the Library Service budget in 2016/17. This proposal, had it been implemented, 
would have resulted in only Newbury Library and the At Home Service being retained. 
There was a high level of response to the public consultation on this proposal, which 
predominantly objected to the proposal. The consultation also identified that there was 
much appetite from community groups to support the continuation of the service. 
This was followed by the Council being in receipt of the Government’s Transitional Grant 
and a proportion of it was allocated to the Library Service. This afforded time to review 
proposals and delay a decision until an independent Needs Assessment could be 
commissioned and undertaken. 
The Needs Assessment had been commissioned from RedQuadrant, an external 
organisation active in the library field. It was commissioned externally on the advice of 
Legal Services both to save time and to add greater weight/transparency to the process. 
The Department for Culture, Media and Sport (DCMS) had also contacted the Council 
and advised of the need for a fuller review of community needs. 
The Needs Assessment process had involved an extensive consultation process which 
included members of staff, community groups and Parish and Town Councils. West 
Berkshire Council had also consulted community groups and Parish and Town Councils. 
Three options had emerged from the RedQuadrant Needs Assessment for the future 
direction of the Library Service. Each option contained a level of reliance on volunteers 
and proposed closure of Wash Common Library. There would also be a reduction from 
two mobile libraries and the At Home Service into one mobile library. The options, 
proposed for consultation, were as follows:
A. 50% reduced staffing in branch libraries. Newbury Library would be run by paid 

staff; and staffing of the remaining seven branch libraries would be split 50/50 
between paid staff and volunteers. This option would achieve estimated savings of 
£580k. 

B. Hub and Spoke Library Network. Newbury Library would be run by paid staff; two 
‘hub’ branches would be run 50/50 by staff and volunteers; and the remaining five 
‘spoke’ libraries would be run by volunteers, with appropriate support from Libraries 
staff, but with no paid staff present day to day. This option would achieve estimated 
savings of £620k. 

C. Seven branches fully volunteer run. Newbury Library would be run by paid staff and 
would exist as the single ‘hub’, all seven branch libraries would be run by 
volunteers, with appropriate support from Libraries staff, but with no paid staff 
present day to day. This option would achieve estimated savings of £645k.

Councillor Boeck proposed acceptance of these options for consultation. This was 
seconded by Councillor Graham Jones. 
Councillor Hilary Cole commended RedQuadrant for their excellent work in conducting 
the Needs Assessment. She had attended two of the consultation sessions and was very 
impressed with how they were run. The feedback from these sessions had been 

Page 6



EXECUTIVE - 20 OCTOBER 2016 - MINUTES

invaluable in helping to form options for the future. Councillor Cole highlighted the 
importance of continuing to work with communities in order to deliver the selected option 
post consultation. 
Councillor Lee Dillon offered congratulations to the Council on following through with the 
production of the Needs Assessment and the associated public consultation as it was 
important that open dialogue took place on this important issue. He did however voice his 
concerns at the proposals formed for the initial consultation to only keep Newbury Library 
open as acceptance of this would have resulted in the Council failing to meet its statutory 
duties for a library service. This earlier proposal, which was not deliverable, had also 
caused undue concern for residents and members of staff. 
Councillor Dillon queried whether there was confidence that the options proposed for 
consultation would fulfil the Council’s statutory duties. Councillor Alan Macro added his 
concern that residents and members of staff had been unduly concerned by the initial 
proposal to only keep Newbury Library open, particularly when the Needs Assessment 
had highlighted that the majority of the savings requirement in this area could still be met 
from the closure of only one branch library. 
Councillor Boeck responded to concerns of legality by explaining that earlier options had 
not been implemented post consultation and at no stage were statutory duties not met. 
He added that RedQuadrant were commissioned to produce the Needs Assessment 
based on their levels of experience in this area and they had stated that the Council 
would fulfil its statutory objectives by following any of the three options proposed for 
consultation. 
Councillor Macro referred to the efficiency savings of around £230k noted in the report 
and queried why these had not been identified for 2016/17. Councillor Boeck clarified that 
these savings had been included in the 2016/17 budget and formed part of the change 
management process. It was anticipated that they would be delivered by year end, but 
implementation had been delayed to allow for the Needs Assessment and public 
consultation process to take place. 
Councillor Macro then referred to the costs of the library system software and queried 
whether there was potential to collaborate with other local authorities in order to 
reduce/share costs. Councillor Boeck explained that the potential to share book stocks 
was being explored with other areas. He added that software licensing costs would be 
reviewed when this contract was due for renewal. 
Councillor Macro queried whether Parish and Town Councils were aware that they would 
be asked for financial contributions and when contributions were expected. Councillor 
Boeck confirmed that parishes were aware and financial contributions would be sought 
for the 2017/18 financial year and beyond. 
Councillor Mollie Lock noted from the report that each of the proposed options carried a 
level of risk and queried what these were. Councillor Boeck advised that risks were 
primarily in relation to an inadequate number of volunteers coming forward or of 
volunteers being unable to attend on a regular basis. 
Councillor Adrian Edwards, speaking as Falkland Ward Member which included Wash 
Common, noted that only Wash Common Library was proposed for closure. He queried 
however whether there was scope for it to continue on a voluntary only operated basis if 
members of the public came forward. Councillor Boeck confirmed this could be 
considered if there were no budgetary implications of doing so. 
Councillor Edwards followed this up by asking if the building could still be utilised by the 
community. Councillor Boeck explained that this could be considered as part of any 

Page 7



EXECUTIVE - 20 OCTOBER 2016 - MINUTES

proposals coming forward for Wash Common Library and a response to this question 
could be provided at the appropriate time. 
RESOLVED that Executive note the three options suggested by RedQuadrant regarding 
the future shape of the library service and that they be put to the public in accordance 
with the Council’s usual consultation policy, and that consultation should take place 
simultaneously with the publication of the Needs Assessment report to inform responses 
from stakeholders.
Other options considered: 
(1) The scale of savings required meant that continuing to run libraries the way the 

Council did now was not a viable option.
(2) This paper contained three options for the transformation of the library service.

56. Adoption of the Temporary Accommodation Strategy (EX3166)
The Executive considered a report (Agenda Item 7) which sought approval and adoption 
of the Temporary Accommodation Strategy. 
Councillor Hilary Cole introduced the item by explaining that the Council had a duty to 
homeless households. The Court of Appeal, in the case of Nzolameso v Westminster 
City Council, stated that local authorities should have a policy for procuring sufficient 
temporary accommodation to meet demand for the year, and a policy for allocating such 
units to individual households. This new Strategy had been drafted to meet this 
requirement. 
Its purpose was two-fold: firstly to set out the Council’s Strategy for procuring additional 
temporary accommodation to meet identified needs, and secondly to set out the policy for 
allocating units of temporary accommodation to individual households. 
Capital investment would be required to acquire new assets in order to increase this 
provision and a capital sum to enable this had already been approved by the Executive. It 
was anticipated that ongoing repair and maintenance costs would be met from rental 
income. 
When allocating units of temporary accommodation to individual households, the 
Housing Service would take account of the full circumstances of the household in relation 
to the financial, social and medical needs of the household and would prioritise families 
with the highest overall level of need. 
The draft Temporary Accommodation Strategy was previously considered by the 
Executive in July 2016 when it was approved for consultation. The consultation had since 
completed and the Strategy was now being presented for adoption. 
Councillor James Fredrickson queried the number of homelessness applications received 
by the Council. Councillor Cole explained that 78 applications had been determined since 
1 April 2016. The full duty had been accepted for 18 applications. 
Councillor Alan Macro was surprised to note that no responses had been received to the 
consultation and queried what efforts had been made to publicise the consultation. 
Councillor Cole stated that she too was surprised that there had been no consultation 
responses. She did however clarify that a full consultation exercise was carried out, this 
included documents being placed on the Council’s website and relevant organisations 
being alerted to the consultation. 
RESOLVED that the Executive approve and adopt the Temporary Accommodation 
Strategy.

Page 8



EXECUTIVE - 20 OCTOBER 2016 - MINUTES

Other options considered: The Council could decide not to implement a Temporary 
Accommodation Strategy. This could give rise to legal challenge if households are not 
allocated suitable accommodation under statutory homelessness duties.

57. Adoption of the Decant Policy (EX3168)
The Executive considered a report (Agenda Item 8) which proposed adoption of the 
Decant Policy. 
Councillor Hilary Cole explained that the Council had a small number of tenants and 
licensees who were afforded security of tenure. This Policy had been drafted to set out 
how the Council would manage decant of these tenants or licensees in the event that 
major works or refurbishment works were required to the properties. The Council would 
be unable to decant tenants or licensees without having a policy in place. 
The draft Decant Policy was previously considered by the Executive in July 2016 when it 
was approved for consultation. The consultation had completed and the Decant Policy 
was now being presented for adoption. One consultation response had been received, 
but due to its nature, this was considered and dealt with separately to the consultation. 
Councillor Alan Macro noted from the Policy that the Council would make only one offer 
of suitable alternative accommodation and this could create a difficult situation for the 
individuals concerned. He also noted that the Decant Policy would apply to both 
temporary and permanent moves and was concerned that this could place a requirement 
on a resident, needing to decant on a temporary basis, to remove all items from their 
home including carpets before returning to the property at a later stage. He queried 
whether this approach was suitable for temporary moves, particularly using the example 
of carpets. 
Councillor Cole explained that it might prove necessary for a floor to be replaced as part 
of major works or refurbishment works and therefore it was necessary to remove carpets. 
The extent of the works required might not initially be clear and it was important that all 
possible eventualities were covered. Properties receiving major works or refurbishment 
works needed to be emptied to avoid the risk of damage being caused to furniture etc. 
RESOLVED that the Executive approve and adopt the Decant Policy. 
Other options considered: Not applicable. 

58. Joint Case Management Unit (EX3184)
The Executive considered a report (Agenda Item 9) concerning the rationale for a Joint 
Case Management Unit (JCMU) with Oxfordshire County Council and the Royal 
Berkshire Fire and Rescue Authority, and which sought the relevant delegated authority 
to enter into the arrangement.   
Councillor Marcus Franks introduced the report and stated that this was an excellent 
example of the Council looking to share services with other public bodies. The proposal 
would serve to strengthen resilience in this area of work, reduce risk and build expertise. 
Greater efficiencies could also be achieved by creating standardised processes across 
the three authorities, all of whom shared a common purpose in this area. The Council 
would host the unit and would receive a management fee for doing so. Councillor Franks 
proposed acceptance of the report’s recommendations. 
Councillor Alan Macro agreed this was a good initiative. He did however note from the 
report that Oxfordshire County Council had indicated that they wished to explore the 
development of the JCMU further and Councillor Macro queried the level of certainty with 
this aspect of the arrangement. In response, Councillor Franks explained that 
discussions had been ongoing for some time with both parties and there was willingness 

Page 9



EXECUTIVE - 20 OCTOBER 2016 - MINUTES

to enter into the JCMU in principle from both Oxfordshire County Council and the Royal 
Berkshire Fire and Rescue Authority. Oxfordshire County Council was merely seeking to 
confirm some of the finer details of the arrangement. 
Councillor Macro queried whether savings could be made from the JCMU. Councillor 
Franks confirmed that the Council’s costs would not increase and, as already explained, 
the Council would be in receipt of a small management fee. There was also potential to 
expand the arrangement in future. 
RESOLVED that:
(1) The Head of Culture and Environmental Protection, in consultation with the Portfolio 

Member for Community Resilience and Partnerships, the Head of Legal Services 
and the Head of Finance, be granted delegated authority to enter into an agreement 
with Oxfordshire County Council and Royal Berkshire Fire and Rescue Authority for 
the delivery of a joint case management unit; and that

(2) the term of that agreement shall be three years with an option to extend by one 
year; and that

(3) a Joint Management Board will oversee the arrangement and that the Head of 
Culture and Environmental Protection or nominated Service Manager will represent 
the Council on that Board; and that

(4) West Berkshire District Council will host the unit.
Other options considered: Not applicable. 

59. Berkshire Community Equipment Service Contract Award (EX3162a)
The Executive considered a report (Agenda Item 10) which informed the Executive of the 
intention to award a five year contract for the provision of the Berkshire Community 
Equipment Service commencing April 2017. 
West Berkshire Council was the lead authority under an existing S75 (NHS Act 2016) 
Agreement on behalf of the six Berkshire Unitary Authorities and the seven Berkshire 
Clinical Commissioning Groups. West Berkshire Council received a management fee 
from the other twelve S75 partners to carry out the lead authority function, which included 
work on this tender. 
Councillor Rick Jones explained that this was another good example of collaborative 
working, in this case across Berkshire. He added that the tender process had completed 
and a five year contract would be awarded to the successful bidder. A lower price had 
been negotiated compared to the existing arrangement. 
Councillor Alan Macro queried if the name of the successful bidder could be announced. 
Councillor Rick Jones agreed to respond to this within Part II as this detail remained 
confidential at this time. 
RESOLVED that the Executive note the intention to award a contract for the provision of 
the Berkshire Community Equipment Service to commence on 1st April 2017.
Other options considered: 
The previous 5 year contract expires on 31st March 2017 and procurement regulations 
and the value of the contract meant that a full competitive procurement process using the 
Open Procedure as defined within the Public Contracts Regulations (2015) was the most 
appropriate option for ensuring continuity of service.
Economies of scale, and government guidance in terms of providing an integrated 
community equipment service, mean that this service is most cost effectively delivered as 
a single shared service and therefore it is not feasible to bring it in-house. The service is 

Page 10



EXECUTIVE - 20 OCTOBER 2016 - MINUTES

shared between the 13 S75 partners in Berkshire and is centrally located at a depot in 
Theale, serving all areas of Berkshire.

60. Contract Award – Complex Needs Service for Clients with a Learning 
Disability (EX3175a)
The Executive considered a report (Agenda Item 11) which informed of the intention to 
award a contract for the complex needs learning disability service at Blagden Close in 
Newbury. 
Councillor Rick Jones explained that the service was provided to a small number of 
clients with complex needs and care was provided on a 24/7 basis. 
The existing contract was due to expire in December 2016 and the intention was to 
award a five year contract with the option of a three year extension. Savings would be 
achieved over this five year period and Councillor Rick Jones commended the work of 
Officers in obtaining good value for money from this new contract. 
In response to a query from Councillor Alan Macro, Councillor Rick Jones confirmed that 
the contract was to be awarded to the existing provider. Councillor Macro followed this up 
by querying whether there was confidence that the level of quality currently achieved 
from this service could be maintained when costs were being lowered. Councillor Rick 
Jones confirmed this to be the case and stated that there was no change to the criteria of 
the contract in terms of quality. He added that the Council and the Care Quality 
Commission monitored and examined the operation of the service on a regular basis and 
no causes for concern had been identified. 
Councillor Lee Dillon noted this service was provided to a small client group and queried 
whether service users and their families had been consulted as part of this process. 
Councillor Rick Jones agreed to provide a written response on that point. 
(Post meeting note: Councillor Rick Jones explained that the learning disability clients 
resident at Blagden Close and their family members were approached in May 2016 via a 
face to face consultation exercise in order for commissioners to get a better 
understanding of the strengths and weaknesses of the current service. The comments 
received had been used within the updated specification document. Councillor Rick 
Jones added that the service was provided at a specialist facility and there was no 
suitable alternative facility that could have been considered). 
RESOLVED that the Executive note the intention to award the contract for the complex 
needs learning disability service at Blagden Close, Newbury.
Other options considered: 
(1) Do nothing – this is not an option due to complex nature of client group and 

increased pressure to ensure that services in the community are available for this 
complex needs group in light of the Transforming Care agenda.

(2) Bring service in house. However the Council does not currently have the skill set to 
deliver a complex needs service for clients with a learning disability.

61. Members' Questions
A full transcription of the public and Member question and answer sessions are available 
from the following link: Transcription of Q&As
(a) Question to be answered by the Portfolio Holder for Culture and 

Environment submitted by Councillor Alan Macro
A question standing in the name of Councillor Alan Macro querying when the Executive 
Member became aware that there would be a delay in residents receiving their permits to 

Page 11

http://decisionmaking.westberks.gov.uk/documents/b12538/Questions%20and%20Answers%2020th-Oct-2016%2017.00%20Executive.pdf?T=9
http://decisionmaking.westberks.gov.uk/documents/b12538/Questions%20and%20Answers%2020th-Oct-2016%2017.00%20Executive.pdf?T=9
http://decisionmaking.westberks.gov.uk/documents/b12538/Questions%20and%20Answers%2020th-Oct-2016%2017.00%20Executive.pdf?T=9
http://decisionmaking.westberks.gov.uk/documents/b12538/Questions%20and%20Answers%2020th-Oct-2016%2017.00%20Executive.pdf?T=9


EXECUTIVE - 20 OCTOBER 2016 - MINUTES

use the West Berkshire waste and recycling sites was answered by the Portfolio Holder 
for Culture and Environment.
(b) Question to be answered by the Portfolio Holder for Culture and 

Environment submitted by Councillor Alan Macro
A question standing in the name of Councillor Alan Macro on the subject of the total cost 
of producing and distributing the permits to use the waste and recycling sites was 
answered by the Portfolio Holder for Culture and Environment.
(c) Question to be answered by the Portfolio Holder for Culture and 

Environment submitted by Councillor Alan Macro
A question standing in the name of Councillor Alan Macro on the subject of the progress 
being made in expanding the Padworth recycling centre to take general household waste 
was answered by the Portfolio Holder for Culture and Environment.
(d) Question to be answered by the Portfolio Holder for Culture and 

Environment submitted by Councillor Alan Macro
A question standing in the name of Councillor Alan Macro querying the number of 
residents who paid for an additional green recycling bin was answered by the Portfolio 
Holder for Culture and Environment.

62. Exclusion of Press and Public
RESOLVED that members of the press and public be excluded from the meeting for the 
under-mentioned item of business on the grounds that it involves the likely disclosure of 
exempt information as contained in Paragraph 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A of the Local 
Government Act 1972, as amended by the Local Government (Access to 
Information)(Variation) Order 2006. Rule 8.10.4 of the Constitution also refers.

63. Berkshire Community Equipment Service Contract Award (EX3162b)
(Paragraph 3 – information relating to financial/business affairs of particular person)
The Executive considered an exempt report (Agenda Item 14) which informed the 
Executive of the intention to award a five year contract for the provision of Berkshire 
Community Equipment Service commencing April 2017. 
West Berkshire Council was the lead authority for this service under an existing S75 
(NHS Act 2006) Agreement on behalf of the six Berkshire Unitary Authorities and the 
seven Berkshire Clinical Commissioning Groups.
RESOLVED that the recommendations in the exempt report be agreed.
Other options considered: as detailed in the exempt report.

64. Contract Award – Complex Needs Service for Clients with a Learning 
Disability (EX3175b)
(Paragraph 3 – information relating to financial/business affairs of particular person)
The Executive considered an exempt report (Agenda Item 15) which informed of the 
intention to award a contract for the complex needs learning disability service at Blagden 
Close in Newbury. The contract length would be five years with the option of a three year 
extension. 
RESOLVED that the recommendations in the exempt report be agreed.
Other options considered: as detailed in the exempt report.

Page 12

http://www.opsi.gov.uk/si/si2006/20060088.htm
http://www.opsi.gov.uk/si/si2006/20060088.htm
http://decisionmaking.westberks.gov.uk/ecCatDisplay.aspx?sch=doc&cat=13206&path=13197


EXECUTIVE - 20 OCTOBER 2016 - MINUTES

(The meeting commenced at 5.00pm and closed at 5.45pm)

CHAIRMAN …………………………………………….
Date of Signature …………………………………………….

Page 13



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 14



West Berkshire Council Executive 24 November 2016

Joint Public Protection Partnership – Summary 
Report

Committee considering 
report: Council

Date of Committee: 8th December 2016
Portfolio Member: Councillor Marcus Franks
Date Portfolio Member 
agreed report: 1st June 2016

Report Author: Sean Murphy
Forward Plan Ref: C3158

1. Purpose of the Report

1.1 West Berkshire District Council currently delivers its Trading Standards, 
Environmental Health and Licensing functions as part of a shared service 
arrangement with Wokingham Borough Council. The current agreements end on 
12th January 2017.

1.2 This report follows agreement in principal from Corporate Board on the 24th May 
and Operations Board 9th June to progress discussions about wider shared 
services.

1.3 This report proposes the creation of a Joint Committee to deliver a shared service 
arrangement between West Berkshire, Wokingham and Bracknell Forest Councils. 
The new arrangement will be known as the Public Protection Partnership (PPP).  

2. Recommendations

Insofar as the functions and arrangements are for the Executive it resolves:

2.1 To authorise the arrangements set out in this report including the creation of a Joint 
Committee with Wokingham Borough Council and Bracknell Forest Council through 
the Public Protection Partnership (PPP) with effect from January 2017.

2.2 To delegate authority to the Head of Legal Services, in consultation with the Head 
of Finance and Head of Culture and Environmental Protection, to finalise the terms 
of the PPP as set out in the draft Inter Authority Agreement (IAA) between the three 
Councils and to make any necessary drafting or other amendments to the terms of 
the draft Agreement which are necessary to reach final agreement but do not 
materially affect the intent and substance of the Agreement.

2.3 To authorise the Joint Committee to determine policy, strategy and oversee the 
performance monitoring and management of the new PPP and have the powers set 
out in the terms of reference contained in Schedule 1 of the draft Inter Authority 
Agreement.

2.4 To authorise the Head of Culture and Environmental Protection and Public 
Protection Service Managers (Currently known as Trading Standards and Building 

Page 15

Agenda Item 6.



Joint Public Protection Partnership – Summary Report

West Berkshire Council Executive 24 November 2016

Control Manager and Environmental Health and Licensing Manager) to receive a 
delegation of Trading Standards, Environmental Health and Licensing functions 
from Bracknell Forest Council and Wokingham Borough Council and to exercise 
those functions jointly with West Berkshire District Council functions under the 
strategy direction and oversight of the Joint Committee. 

2.5 The proposed agreement authorises West Berkshire District Council to institute and 
defend proceedings on behalf of Wokingham and Bracknell.  This does not preclude 
the other authorities from taking their own legal actions. 

2.6 To receive a TUPE transfer of the staff of Bracknell Forest Council currently 
providing the Trading Standards, Environmental Health and Licensing functions on 
the terms set out in the draft Inter Authority Agreement and authorise any relevant 
pensions and employment implications.

2.7 To appoint Head of Culture and Environmental Protection as the Council's Lead 
Officer to manage the Councils arrangements under the Agreement on the 
Council's behalf and to authorise the Monitoring Officer to make any necessary 
variations to the Agreement as may be required from time to time in consultation 
with the Leader of the Council.

2.8 To authorise the appointment to the Joint Committee of the Executive Member with 
responsibility for the relevant functions (currently Councillor Marcus Franks) along 
with Substitute Member from the Executive namely Councilllor Dominic Boeck.

2.9 To authorise entering into arrangements with other local authorities, shared services 
or other bodies for the provision of Trading Standards, Licensing or Environmental 
Health Services in accordance with the provision in the IAA. 

2.10 Insofar as the foregoing provisions also relate to the exercise of non Executive 
functions to recommend to the Council to authorise the same. 

3. Implications

3.1 Financial: The model which governs the PPP budget has a flexible approach 
which accommodates fluctuating demands and the potential for partner 
authorities to request changes in the activity levels.

An initial full year budget (for 2017/18) has been set based on agreed levels 
from each of the partner authorities using retrospective activity level data. 
Ongoing activity levels will be monitored to inform subsequent budgets to be 
considered and proposed annually by the Joint Committee. Each Council will 
subsequently approve the budget, retaining control of allocations to the Joint 
Committee at all times. This process is set out in more detail in Schedule 4 of 
the legal agreement. 

The initial budget for the part year (9th Jan 2017 – 31st Mar 2017) will be based 
on existing budgets. 

The proposal will deliver a recurring saving in 2017-18 of £120K for West 
Berkshire. 

The agreement also sets out in detail how unforeseen expenditure is managed. 

Page 16



Joint Public Protection Partnership – Summary Report

West Berkshire Council Executive 24 November 2016

Examples of this would include major investigations or a major animal health 
disease outbreak. Initially this would need to be managed from existing budget 
but where this is not possible then the matter would need to be referred back to 
the relevant council or councils.

It is important to note that any subsequent efficiencies made through the PPP 
will also be redistributed using the budget proportions, once agreed by the 
governing Committee. This is set out in the business plan and the agreement.

It has been acknowledged that there will be resource implications for the host 
in supporting the PPP a series of agreements for the following services have 
been made:

- Finance; ongoing accountancy support to contribute to discussions around in 
year budget management and year end reconciliation.

- Legal; direct costs as a result of initiating the project and any costs 
specifically incurred as a result of operating the PPP i.e. those over and 
above that covered by the legal agreement.

- Democratic services; direct support to the Committee.

- HR; to manage the initial TUPE process as part of the project.

These costs will be met by the PPP and in accordance with the model these 
costs will be split proportionately.

3.2 Policy: The PPP will be an important contributor to Council objectives around 
protecting vulnerable people and the operating model being considered shows 
strong, effective leadership which focuses on the most important issues 
affecting communities and business. The proposals build on increased 
resilience, reduced risk to the community and the Council, building expertise in 
areas where cost recovery is possible and giving employees improved 
professional opportunities. All policy will have input from the Joint Committee 
and wherever possible a common approach will be sought.
  

3.3 Personnel: This proposal will result in the TUPE transfer of 25 employees from 
Bracknell Forest Council. Whilst it will require existing West Berkshire 
employees to carry out their functions across a wider geographical area, they 
acknowledge the professional development opportunities that this will bring. The 
existing employees have been kept informed on a regular basis as the business 
case was developed. Appropriate indemnifications will be put in place as part of 
the finalisation of the legal arrangements.

3.4 Legal: The proposed shared service model is based on a Joint Committee 
under Section 102 of the Local Government Act 1972 which will have powers 
delegated to it by each of the participating authorities to take decisions on behalf 
of all of them.  

As a Joint Committee is not a legal entity separate from its constituent 
authorities, it cannot enter into contracts, own land or employ staff in its own 
right but can have delegated authority to enter into arrangements conducive to 

Page 17



Joint Public Protection Partnership – Summary Report

West Berkshire Council Executive 24 November 2016

the partnership.  There is therefore a need for one of the Authorities (in this 
instance, West Berkshire Council) to take a lead authority role to undertake 
these activities on behalf of the other authorities.  It is possible for one or more 
of the participating authorities to decide to pull out of the joint arrangements.  
Any financial implications arising from this will be dealt with in accordance with 
the terms of the agreement.

An inter Authority Agreement will be entered into prior to the shared service 
becoming operational setting out the contractual obligations of the three parties 
under the arrangement including withdrawal by notice requirements.

As a Joint Committee is a voluntary arrangement, it is always possible for one or 
more of the participating authorities to decide to pull out of the joint 
arrangements. The IAA has provisions to require participating authority wishing 
to withdraw from the arrangements to have to give reasonable notice to the 
remaining authorities and to be liable to those remaining authorities for any loss 
which its withdrawal causes to the remaining authorities.

As the Joint Committee is intended to carry out a combination of Executive and 
Non-Executive functions the decision to set up the Joint Committee must be 
considered by Council, but both Council and the Executive must agree the 
arrangements and each must separately resolve to delegate their particular 
functions to the Joint Committee.  A separate report for approval will therefore 
need to be presented before a future Council meeting delegating those 
functions.

To avoid the risk of a procurement challenge the arrangement must 
demonstrate genuine cooperation between the parties. The Joint Committee 
arrangement and the IAA satisfy this requirement

3.5 Risk Management:  These proposals if adopted will be notified to the Councils 
insurers. The legal agreement deals with allocation of risk and liability in 
significant detail. The underlying principal is one a shared liability. Safeguards 
exist to indemnify the parties against the actions of other parties in appropriate 
circumstances.  One identified risk is that one or other of Executive or Council 
do not approve the recommendations.

In terms of insurance the relevant notifications will be made to the councils 
insurers. As with the existing shared service it is not anticipated that this would 
present any issues.    

3.6 Property: There are no property implications as accommodation will be retained 
at Bracknell Forest Council Offices.  
  

4. Other options considered

4.1 Alternatives considered would be to revert to West Berkshire only provision or retain 
the current combination of authorities i.e. West Berkshire and Wokingham. Neither 
option would deliver the savings identified above without further cuts to service 
provision which in turn would have the effect of reducing resilience which is one of 
the strengths in the proposal. The currently proposal allows for the management of 

Page 18



Joint Public Protection Partnership – Summary Report

West Berkshire Council Executive 24 November 2016

potential further saving through providing services to others or developing the 
shared service through the admission of further Councils. 

4.2 Another option taken by handful of Councils has been outsourcing to the private 
sector. There significant complexities around this arrangement not least of which 
are the fact that many of the functions can only be delegated to ‘officers’ of local 
authorities and certain functions such as decisions on legal actions can only be 
made by the authority. These services are very much in their infancy and time will 
tell whether this is an effective way of delivering enforcement services. It is certainly 
clear that the current legislative framework with respect to the statutory duties of a 
local authority do not lend themselves easily to this model. For this reason it has not 
been explored further at this stage. It is of course something the joint committee 
could consider in due course.  

4.3 In the final instance this proposed approach builds on the experience drawn from 
our own shared service and that of others. The proposal for a combined single 
service involves joining these service areas into one large unit with the licensing 
function.  It is believed that the joining of these three service areas in this way 
provides the greatest opportunity to improve efficiencies, maintain service standards 
and further reduce costs.  The model proposed allows for further expansion, income 
generation and should it ever be considered a better option, outsourcing to the 
benefit of the partner organisations.

Page 19



Joint Public Protection Partnership – Summary Report

West Berkshire Council Executive 24 November 2016

5. Executive Summary

5.1 In June 2010 West Berkshire Council entered into a five year shared service 
arrangement with Wokingham Borough Council for the delivery of the Trading 
Standards Service. This was followed by a five year agreement for Environmental 
Health and Licensing Services in January 2012. These combined arrangements 
have delivered savings of £200K per annum for West Berkshire. 

5.2 Additionally the new arrangements have assisted in a number of key areas of 
delivery around sustainability. They have also allowed the service to meet changing 
patterns of offending and the enforcement regime around them. For the Trading 
Standards service the integration of the National Intelligence Model into day to day 
delivery along with a new integrated operating model with Thames Valley Police has 
again further improved efficiency in targeting resource.

5.3 Whilst both of the shared services at their time of development were not exclusive 
nationally they were relatively pioneering. The prevailing economic climate since 
2010 has seen a steady increase in the number of collaboration arrangements 
particularly in the area of Trading Standards and we have been consulted and 
advised on shared services by a number of county council’s, unitary authorities and 
welsh unitary authorities. We have considered other models and particularly the 
merits of the joint Surrey/Buckinghamshire which developed the initial West 
Berkshire/Wokingham model to introduce governance by Joint Committee. This is 
now seen as the favourable model going forward.  

5.4 The initial legal agreement for trading standards ran for five years to June 2015. 
This was extended by Executive decision to bring it into line with the Environmental 
Health and Licensing agreement which is due to end in January 2017. 

5.5 Towards the end of 2015 we were approached by officers of Bracknell Forest 
District Council about the possibility of looking at a new shared service arrangement 
to cover West Berkshire, Wokingham and Bracknell Forest Councils areas. This 
matter was considered by Corporate Board and Operations Board and authority 
granted to work up a proposal for further consideration. There are ongoing 
discussions with Reading Borough Council and Royal Borough of Windsor and 
Maidenhead about how they might engage with the new arrangement in the future.

5.6 A significant amount of work has now been conducted by officers across a number 
of work streams relating to legal, HR, finance, ICT and operational matters as well 
consideration of other models and in particular the merits of the joint Surrey/ 
Buckinghamshire Joint Committee Model. This has concluded in draft inter-authority 
agreement (Appendix B) and recommendation at page 1. 

5.7 Should these proposals be approved by Executive and its functions delegated as 
set out in the resolutions the matter will then go before full Council to consider the 
proposal to delegate its functions also.

5.8 Any additional costs for support services (including for any legal activity) will be met 
by the PPP.    

6. Conclusion

6.1 These proposals will delivery further opportunities to reduce revenue costs of 
delivering Trading Standards, Environmental Health and Licensing. In addition the 

Page 20



Joint Public Protection Partnership – Summary Report

West Berkshire Council Executive 24 November 2016

potential for operational efficiencies, service resilience and the likelihood of income 
generating opportunities is enhanced. For these reasons this is the option 
recommended to Executive and Council.

7. Appendices

7.1 Appendix A – Supporting Information

7.2 Appendix B – Equalities Impact Assessment

7.3 Appendix C – Draft Inter-Authority Agreement

Page 21



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 22



West Berkshire Council Executive 24 November 2016

Appendix A

Joint Public Protection Partnership – Supporting 
Information

1. Background

1.1 West Berkshire and Wokingham currently share environmental health and trading 
standards functions. These currently operate as two separate services under two 
separate agreements having commenced at different times.  This arrangement has 
already delivered significant savings for both authorities primarily through reducing 
management overheads, merging of systems and procurement savings. This 
proposal seeks to take the learning from the current arrangement and Bracknell 
Forest and combine it into one service department serving the Southern half of 
Berkshire.

1.2 There are several drivers for seeking change within all three councils, not least the 
need to contribute to the savings targets.  A merger enables the realisation of 
significant savings whilst also providing greater opportunity for job enrichment and 
advancement.  The proposals would result in one large team of over 100 staff. 
Bigger teams working across a wider area provide a greater range of professional 
challenge as well as scope for operational and management efficiencies.  The 
alternative is limited to ongoing small cuts year on year potentially making the 
service unviable and filling vacant posts challenging. 

1.3 The existing arrangements have provided savings to West Berkshire Council in the 
order of £200K per annum. These proposals will increase the annual saving by 
£110K to a total of £310K This will be done through further reduction in 
management overhead by the new partnership arrangement and through 
rationalisation of systems, licensing and supplies costs.     

2. Remit of the New Partnership and Support Arrangements

2.1 The current shared service arrangements cover the Environmental Health and 
Licensing and Trading Standards functions of both West Berkshire and Wokingham. 
Operationally these are delivered by West Berkshire Council with staff based in 
Newbury and Wokingham. Each Council still maintains its own Licensing Committee 
and sub committees / panels as required. Included in this arrangement are the pest 
control functions and animal warden service.

2.2 This proposal would extend to include those services on behalf of Bracknell Forest 
Council.  Bracknell Forest also has a number of small contracts for example in 
relation to stray dogs and air quality monitoring.  These would be transferred as part 
of the arrangements and in time they would be renegotiated by the new 
organisation to establish common arrangements to cover all three councils.

2.3 The legal functions associated with enforcement of legislation will also become the 
responsibility of the partnership and these will be funded from the overall revenue 
budget of the partnership. Where there are financial implications for west Berkshire 
Legal Services these will be met by the Partnership. 

Page 23



Joint Public Protection Partnership – Supporting Information

West Berkshire Council Executive 24 November 2016

    
3. Governance Arrangements 

3.1 The proposed Governance arrangements are set out in Schedule 1 of the draft 
agreement attached at Appendix 2 to this report.    As can be seen from that detail 
the proposal is for the new service to be given the strategic direction and be held to 
account through joint management arrangements led by a statutory Joint 
Committee. This will comprise of two members from each council and one 
substitute is permitted. Legislation requires one of the nominees to be an Executive 
Member. It is suggested that this should be the Executive Member within whose 
remit the services fall.   

3.2 The Joint Committee would not assume any responsibility that already falls to the 
Licensing Committee of the Council.  Each council would retain its own licensing 
functions, associated legal processes and appeal panels.  

3.3 The Board would be supported by the Joint (Officer) Management Group.  This 
Group would and would comprise of nominated senior (client) officers from each of 
the three councils. The Group will be responsible for driving core business and 
ensuring the respective needs of the three councils are properly considered at an 
operational level.  Overall daily management will be a function of the operational 
management team lead by the host authority through the Joint Service Managers 
and the operational team managers. The Group would manage the overall 
operational needs and ensure progress against targets are reported to the Joint 
Committee through a number of pre determined key performance indicators.

3.4 In order to drive out efficiencies one of the early needs would be to try to develop 
common policies and practices.  When it comes to licensing for example the Joint 
Committee would be responsible for ensuring that the necessary resources are 
available to do this.  Each licensing Authority would then be asked to adopt them.  
The need is to ensure an effective interface between the Joint Committee at all 
times.  The Committee would have the authority and responsibility to manage risk 
and deliver the required service levels within the approved budget.  The committee 
will propose a fee structure for consideration by each Council on an annual basis.

3.5 From a practical point of view the Joint Committee will be hosted by West Berkshire 
Council and the standing orders of West Berkshire Council would apply. The Chair 
will rotate annually and it is proposed the initial Chair is from Bracknell Forest and 
Vice Chair from Wokingham. 

4. Staff implications

4.1 West Berkshire would under the proposals become the employing and 
administrative authority.  They are the current employer for the Wokingham and 
West Berks joint services arrangements and there is no merit in changing this 
arrangement.  To get the efficiencies needed there can only be one central body 
with such responsibilities.  West Berkshire has the necessary experience to perform 
this role and the implications are set out in the draft Inter Authority Agreement. 
Effectively West Berkshire will become the delivery body for the Partnership. Given 
the nature of the service and the need to take responsibility for the actions of staff 
within the service it is proposed that existing Bracknell Forest staff transfer to West 
Berkshire where the functions they perform fall within the scope of the agreement. 

Page 24



Joint Public Protection Partnership – Supporting Information

West Berkshire Council Executive 24 November 2016

TUPE will apply to these transfers and HR have been involved in the discussions 
with counterparts in Bracknell.   

4.2 The nature of any proposal of this nature inevitably has a bearing on the current 
workforce. For these reasons regular updates and briefings have taken place. Most 
staff having worked in the existing shared service recognise the benefits of such 
arrangements.  Within regulatory services the proposed model is becoming more 
common across the country.  The main implication for existing staff initially will be 
that their geographical remit will be extended to include Bracknell Forest Council 
area. In due course the structure of the Service will become a matter for the Joint 
Committee. 

4.3 In terms of accommodation Bracknell are making available the existing 
accommodation at their offices at Times Square. Both West Berkshire and 
Wokingham will permit the staff to use their offices for the duration of this 
agreement. ICT equipment for existing Bracknell staff is being provided by Bracknell 
Forest Council along with network access etc. Access to West Berkshire systems 
will be via Citrix.   

5. Service Delivery Model

5.1 Reducing budget cannot be done without there being some service reduction.  The 
proposed arrangements will achieve the most significant level of saving by a 
reduction in management costs and service efficiencies from day one.  However, 
there will be some other operational changes relative to what and how the service in 
Bracknell and the existing Environmental Health and Licensing function at West 
Berkshire and Wokingham is currently delivered. Those services will be brought into 
line with the existing model for Trading Standards which is based on the National 
Intelligence Model to set priorities and to identify and respond to those matters which 
are considered to be of high risk or impact whilst allowing for the development of an 
understanding of emerging issues.  The benefits of this can be seen in the work 
relating to tackling doorstep crime and financial abuse. 

5.2 Effective relationships with key Council delivery services such as Adult Social Care, 
Housing, Planning and Building Control be key to effective service delivery as will 
effective partnerships with the myriad of bodies. These include the Police, Royal 
Berkshire Fire and Rescue Service, Trading Standards South East and National 
Trading Standards, Housing Associations, 3rd Sector bodies along with neighbouring 
and other local authorities. Where service specific grants are available these will be 
sought on behalf of all three Councils to maintain and improve effective delivery. 

5.3 The core service objectives and specification is set out in Schedule 5 to the 
agreement. 

6. Opportunities for the Future

6.1 The new service would be able to seek new sources of income. This will include the 
considering the admittance of additional Councils into the arrangements or other 
such arrangement collaborative or otherwise for the delivery of services. Where the 
Committee considers the business case to be made out (including an assessment 
of the implications for support services) they will make recommendations for 
consideration by the partners  Where efficiencies give rise to savings the proposals 

Page 25



Joint Public Protection Partnership – Supporting Information

West Berkshire Council Executive 24 November 2016

provide a mechanism for equitable sharing of any future savings based on the 
original cost basis.   

7. Contract Term and Timetable 

7.1 The timetable for any change is tight and the proposal is to enter into an agreement 
commencing 13 January 2017.  The initial agreement is for a ten year term.  The 
agreement includes for break clauses and extensions.  

Background Papers:
*(add text)
Papers containing facts or material you have relied on to prepare your report. The public 
can access these background papers.
NOTE: The section below does not need to be completed if your report will not 
progress beyond Corporate or Operations Board.
Subject to Call-In:
Yes:    No:  
If not subject to call-in please put a cross in the appropriate box by double-clicking on the box and selecting 
‘Checked’:
The item is due to be referred to Council for final approval
Delays in implementation could have serious financial implications for the Council
Delays in implementation could compromise the Council’s position
Considered or reviewed by Overview and Scrutiny Management Commission or 
associated Task Groups within preceding six months
Item is Urgent Key Decision
Report is to note only

Wards affected:
All

Please put a cross in the appropriate box(es) by double-clicking on the box and selecting ‘Checked’:
Strategic Aims and Priorities Supported:
The proposals will help achieve the following Council Strategy aims:
X SLE – A stronger local economy
X MEC – Become an even more effective Council
The proposals contained in this report will help to achieve the following Council Strategy 
priority:
X MEC1 – Become an even more effective Council

Officer details:
Name: Sean Murphy
Job Title: Trading Standards and Building Control Manager
Tel No: 01635 519930
E-mail Address: sean.murphy@westberks.gov.uk

Page 26



Joint Public Protection Partnership – Supporting Information

West Berkshire Council Executive 24 November 2016

Appendix B

Equality Impact Assessment - Stage One

NOTE: Strategic Support is not able to accept your report without the following section 
being completed and an Equality Impact Assessment (EIA) being attached where required. 
For advice please visit http://intranet/EqIA or contact the Principal Policy Officer (Equality & 
Diversity) on Ext. 2441 or Team Leader/Solicitor - Corporate Team on Ext. 2626.

We need to ensure that our strategies, polices, functions and services, current and 
proposed have given due regard to equality and diversity.  

Please complete the following questions to determine whether a Stage Two, 
Equality Impact Assessment is required.

Name of policy, strategy or function: Shared Public Protection Service

Version and release date of item (if 
applicable):

Owner of item being assessed: Steve Broughton

Name of assessor: Sean Murphy

Date of assessment:

Is this a: Is this:

Policy No New or proposed /No

Strategy No Already exists and is being 
reviewed Yes

Function Yes Is changing Yes

Service Yes

1. What are the main aims, objectives and intended outcomes of the policy, 
strategy function or service and who is likely to benefit from it?

Aims: To develop a more robust and effective Public 
Protection Service covering West Berkshire, 
Wokingham and Bracknell

Objectives: To provide sustainability of the service and improve its 
effectiveness

Outcomes:

Benefits: A strong and effective high quality service.

2. Note which groups may be affected by the policy, strategy, function or 
service.  Consider how they may be affected, whether it is positively or 
negatively and what sources of information have been used to determine 
this.

Page 27

http://intranet/index.aspx?articleid=30266


Joint Public Protection Partnership – Supporting Information

West Berkshire Council Executive 24 November 2016

(Please demonstrate consideration of all strands – Age, Disability, Gender 
Reassignment, Marriage and Civil Partnership, Pregnancy and Maternity, Race, 
Religion or Belief, Sex and Sexual Orientation.)

Group 
Affected What might be the effect? Information to support this

Further Comments relating to the item:

None

3. Result 

Are there any aspects of the policy, strategy, function or service, 
including how it is delivered or accessed, that could contribute to 
inequality?

No

Please provide an explanation for your answer:

Will the policy, strategy, function or service have an adverse impact 
upon the lives of people, including employees and service users? No

Please provide an explanation for your answer:

If your answers to question 2 have identified potential adverse impacts and you 
have answered ‘yes’ to either of the sections at question 3, or you are unsure about 
the impact, then you should carry out a Stage 2 Equality Impact Assessment.

If a Stage Two Equality Impact Assessment is required, before proceeding you 
should discuss the scope of the Assessment with service managers in your area.  
You will also need to refer to the Equality Impact Assessment guidance and Stage 
Two template.

4. Identify next steps as appropriate:

Stage Two required

Owner of Stage Two assessment:

Timescale for Stage Two assessment:

Stage Two not required:

Name:  Sean Murphy Date:   November 2016

Please now forward this completed form to Rachel Craggs, the Principal Policy 
Officer (Equality and Diversity) for publication on the WBC website.

Page 28



Appendix C

Dated                                                                                 2016

  

WEST BERKSHIRE DISTRICT COUNCIL

AND

WOKINGHAM BOROUGH COUNCIL 

AND

BRACKNELL FOREST COUNCIL

DRAFT INTER AUTHORITY AGREEMENT
in relation to

the Public Protection Partnership
31.10.16 v4

Page 29



 

1

Contents

Item Page

1 DEFINITIONS AND INTERPRETATION ................................................................................................4
2 TERM ......................................................................................................................................................8
3 GENERAL PRINCIPLES AND OBJECTIVES........................................................................................8
4 ESTABLISHMENT OF JOINT COMMITTEE..........................................................................................9
5 HOST AUTHORITY.................................................................................................................................9
6 GOVERNANCE.....................................................................................................................................10
7 BUDGET SETTING AND SUPPORT COSTS ......................................................................................10
8 MONITORING OF THE SERVICES......................................................................................................10
9 EQUIPMENT AND ASSETS.................................................................................................................10
10 INTELLECTUAL PROPERTY...............................................................................................................11
11 STAFFING.............................................................................................................................................12
12 APPLICATION OF SECTION 113 LGA 1972.......................................................................................15
13 PROCUREMENT PROCESS................................................................................................................15
14 ACCOMMODATION .............................................................................................................................15
15 BRANDING ...........................................................................................................................................16
16 DEFAULTS ...........................................................................................................................................16
17 TERMINATION OF THIS AGREEMENT ..............................................................................................16
18 CONSEQUENCES OF TERMINATION ................................................................................................17
19 INSURANCE .........................................................................................................................................18
20 INDEMNITIES AND LIABILITIES .........................................................................................................18
21 MEMBER AND OFFICER LIABILITY...................................................................................................19
22 DISPUTES.............................................................................................................................................19
23 CONDUCT OF CLAIMS........................................................................................................................20
24 CONFIDENTIALITY ..............................................................................................................................21
25 DATA PROTECTION ............................................................................................................................22
26 FREEDOM OF INFORMATION ACT 2000 AND ENVIRONMENTAL INFORMATION REGULATIONS 
2004 22
27 WAIVER AND SEVERABILITY ............................................................................................................23
28 CONFLICTS OF INTEREST .................................................................................................................23
29 ENTIRE AGREEMENT .........................................................................................................................24
30 EXTENT OF OBLIGATIONS AND FURTHER ASSURANCE..............................................................24
31 NO PARTNERSHIP OR AGENCY........................................................................................................24
32 THIRD PARTIES ...................................................................................................................................24
33 VARIATIONS ........................................................................................................................................24
34 ASSIGNMENT AND SUBCONTRACTING...........................................................................................25
35 GOVERNING LAW AND ENFORCEMENT..........................................................................................25
36 NOTICES...............................................................................................................................................25
SCHEDULE 1 - GOVERNANCE .....................................................................................................................27
SCHEDULE 2 - RELEVANT FUNCTIONS .....................................................................................................32

Page 30



 

2

SCHEDULE 3 - BRANDING ...........................................................................................................................36
SCHEDULE 4 – AGREED PERCENTAGES AND BUDGET SETTING.........................................................37
SCHEDULE 5 – SERVICE SPECIFICATION .................................................................................................40
SCHEDULE 6 – BRACKNELL FOREST EMPLOYEES.................................................................................43

Page 31



 

3

THIS AGREEMENT is made on day of 2016  

BETWEEN:

(1) WEST BERKSHIRE DISTRICT COUNCIL of Council Offices, Market Street, Newbury, Berkshire 
RG14 5LD ("West Berkshire")

(2) WOKINGHAM BOROUGH COUNCIL of Civic Offices, Shute End, 6 Wokingham, Berkshire RG40 
1BN ("Wokingham")

(3) BRACKNELL FOREST COUNCIL of Market Street, Bracknell, Berkshire, RG12 1JD ("Bracknell 
Forest")

together known as the “Councils” and each as a “Council”. 

BACKGROUND

(A) The Councils have recognised that there are significant potential gains to be made by working 
together in delivering public protection services in partnership in order to provide advantages and 
economies of scale and deliver robust and flexible services. West Berkshire and Wokingham already 
collaborate through a shared service supported by two Shared Services Agreements in relation to 
the provision of trading standards; and environmental health and licensing.

(B) Building upon the collaboration described above Bracknell Forest will join the existing shared service 
arrangements described above. The Councils will establish a Joint Committee pursuant to Sections 
101 and 102 of the Local Government Act 1972; Sections 9EA and 9EB of the Local Government 
Act 2000 (as amended); the Local Authorities (Arrangements for the Discharge of Functions) 
(England) Regulations 2012; section 111 Local Government Act 1972 and all other enabling powers, 
for the purpose of jointly managing and providing trading standards, environmental health and 
licensing to the Councils. 

(C) West Berkshire has therefore resolved through a resolution of its Executive dated [        ] 2016 
and its Council dated [                 ] 2016 that the Joint Committee should discharge West Berkshire's 
Relevant Functions through the Service under the provisions of Sections 101(5) and 102 of the Local 
Government Act 1972, Section 9E of the Local Government Act 2000 and the Local Government 
(Arrangement for the Discharge of Functions) (England) Regulations 2012. West Berkshire shall 
receive a TUPE transfer of staff from Bracknell Forest. Operational delivery of the functions shall be 
delegated by the Council and the Executive to the Council's Head of Culture and Environmental 
Protection, who may further delegate functions to Service Managers.

(D) Wokingham has therefore resolved through a resolution of its Executive dated [                      ] 2016 
and its Council dated [                 ] 2016 that the Joint Committee should discharge Wokingham's 
Relevant Functions through the Service under the provisions of Sections 101(5) and 102 of the Local 
Government Act 1972, Section 9E of the Local Government Act 2000 and the Local Government 
(Arrangement for the Discharge of Functions) (England) Regulations 2012. 

(E) Bracknell Forest has therefore resolved through a resolution of its Executive dated [                     ] 
2016 that and its Council dated [                 ] 2016 the Joint Committee should discharge Bracknell 
Forest's Relevant Functions through the Service under the provisions of Sections 101(5) and 102 of 
the Local Government Act 1972, Section 9E of the Local Government Act 2000 and the Local 
Government (Arrangement for the Discharge of Functions) (England) Regulations 2012. It has been 
agreed that the staff of Bracknell Forest involved in provision of the Services will TUPE transfer to 
West Berkshire.

(F) This Agreement shall bring into effect the Service and shall set up and regulate the Joint Committee 
and the relationship between the Councils and the Joint Committee and the terms on which the 
Relevant Functions will be discharged. 

Page 32



 

4

IT IS AGREED as follows:

1 DEFINITIONS AND INTERPRETATION

1.1 In this Agreement, unless the context requires otherwise:

Actuary means the actuary to the Fund as appointed by the Fund from time to time.

Agreed Percentages means the percentages as agreed for the relevant Financial Year in 
accordance in Schedule 4. 

Agreement means the agreement between the Councils in relation to the Joint Committee and the 
Service it shall provide as contained in this document.

Assets means all assets and equipment which belong to West Berkshire and which are used by 
West Berkshire in the performance of the Service and which for the avoidance doubt includes 
Bracknell Forest's Assets (as defined in Clause 9.1).

Bracknell Forest Employees means those employees listed Schedule 6.

Bribery Act: the Bribery Act 2010 and any subordinate legislation made under that Act from time to 
time together with any guidance or codes of practice issued by the relevant government department 
concerning the legislation.

Chief Finance Officer means the Head of Finance from time to time for West Berkshire, who will be 
the section 151 Officer for the Joint Committee and prepare accounts for the Joint Committee in 
accordance with best practice.

Commencement Date means [9th] January 2017. 

Confidential Information means any information, data and/or material of any nature which has 
been designated as confidential by the Councilsin writing or that ought to be considered as 
confidential (however it is conveyed or on whatever media it is stored) including information which 
relates to the business, affairs, properties, assets, trading practices, services, developments, trade 
secrets, Intellectual Property Rights, know-how, Staff and other personnel, Service Users and 
suppliers of the Councils and all personal data and sensitive personal data within the meaning of the 
Data Protection Act 1998. 

Councils means West Berkshire, Wokingham and Bracknell Forest and their successors and 
permitted assignees.

Default means any breach of any breach of the Agreement which does not amount to a 
Fundamental Breach or any failure to meet the agreed KPIs.

Direct Losses means all damages, losses, liabilities, claims, actions, costs, expenses (including the 
cost of legal or professional services, legal costs being on an indemnity basis), proceedings, 
demands and charges whether arising under statute, contract or at common law.

Dispute means any dispute relating to or arising from the terms of this Agreement.

DPA means the Data Protection Act 1998.

EIR means the Environmental Information Regulations 2004 and any subordinate legislation made 
under the Regulations from time to time, together with any guidance and/or codes of practice issued 
by the Information Commissioner or relevant government department in relation to such legislation.

Employment Claim means any claim (whether in contract, tort, under statute, pursuant to European 
law or otherwise) including, without limitation, any claim for unfair dismissal, wrongful dismissal, a 
redundancy payment, breach of contract, unlawful deduction from wages, discrimination on the 

Page 33



 

5

grounds of sex, race, disability, age, sexual orientation, religion or religious belief, personal injury, a 
protective award or a claim or demand of any other nature.

Exit Deficit shall have the meaning given to the term in Clause 11. 

Exit Plan has the meaning given at Clause 17.5.

Exit Valuation means any sum determined by the Actuary as being owed to the Fund in respect of 
the Bracknell Forest Employees on cessation of Bracknell Forest's participation in the Fund as their 
scheme employer in accordance with Regulation 64 of the LGPS Regulations.

Financial Year means each financial accounting period of 12 months ending on the 31 March of 
each year. 

FOIA means the Freedom of Information Act 2000 and any subordinate legislation made under the 
Act from time to time, together with any guidance and/or codes of practice issued by the Information 
Commissioner or relevant government department in relation to such legislation.

Fund means the Royal County of Berkshire Pension Fund within the LGPS of which the Royal 
Borough of Windsor and Maidenhead is the Administering Authority;

Fundamental Breach means:

a) three or more Defaults in a six month period;

b) a default which is not capable of remedy in accordance with Clause 16 (Defaults) and which has 
or will have a material adverse impact on the Service Users.

Future Exit Valuation means any sum determined by the Actuary as being owed to the Fund in 
respect of the Staff upon expiry or termination of the Agreement in accordance with the LGPS 
Regulations.

Host Authority means a Council that has entered into legal obligations and created legal rights on 
on behalf of the Councils in accordance with the terms of this Agreement.

Initial Term has the meaning given to it in Clause 2.1.

Intellectual Property Rights means any and all patents, inventions, trade marks, logos, service 
marks, domain names, registered designs, utility models, copyright, moral rights, rights in design, 
know-how, confidential information and all or any other intellectual or individual property rights 
whether or not registered or capable of registration and whether nor or in future residing in the 
United Kingdom or any other part of the world together with all or any goodwill and accrued rights of 
action.

Joint Committee means the joint committee set up by the Councils pursuant to Section 102 of the 
Local Government Act 1972 and section 9EA and 9EB Local Government Act 2000.

Joint Management Board means the joint management board established pursuant to Clause 6.2 
and 6.3.

Joint Management Team means the joint management team established pursuant to Clause 6.4. 

KPI means the key performance indicators set out in Schedule 5.

Lead Officer means the nominated lead officer for each participating Council as notified to the Joint 
Committee in writing from time to time.

LGA 1972 means the Local Government Act 1972.

Page 34



 

6

LGPS means the Local Government Pension Scheme established pursuant to regulations made by 
the Secretary of State in exercise of powers under sections 7 and 12 of the Superannuation Act 
1972.

LGPS Regulations means the Local Government Pension Scheme Regulations 2013 (SI 
2013/2356).

Monitoring Officer means the Monitoring Officer from time to time of each the Councils. 

Premises means any office address in any of the Council’s administrative areas from which the PPP 
operates or requires access to from time to time.

Prohibited Act: the following constitute Prohibited Acts:

(a) to directly or indirectly offer, promise or give any person working for or engaged by the Councils a 
financial or other advantage to:

(i) induce that person to perform improperly a relevant function or activity; or

(ii) reward that person for improper performance of a relevant function or activity;

(b) to directly or indirectly request, agree to receive or accept any financial or other advantage as an 
inducement or a reward for improper performance of a relevant function or activity in connection with 
this Agreement;

(c) committing any offence:

(i) under the Bribery Act 2010;

(ii) under legislation or common law concerning fraudulent acts;

(iii) defrauding, attempting to defraud or conspiring to defraud the Councils.

(d) any activity, practice or conduct which would constitute one of the offences listed under (c) above 
if such activity, practice or conduct had been carried out in the UK.

Procurement Agent means West Berkshire procuring a contract for the provision of goods and 
services on behalf of the Councils for the purposes of the PPP.

PPP means the Public Protection Partnership which is not a separate legal entity in its own right and 
for which West Berkshire is the Host Authority.

Redundancy Payment means in respect of any Staff :

(a) any statutory redundancy payment entitlement; and

(b) any contractual enhancements of the entitlement referred to in (a) above to which they are 
entitled at the Commencement Date; and 

(c) any notice payments or payments in lieu of notice, 

(d) pension strain, where applicable

payable by West Berkshire to the Staff on or after the Commencement Date, but excluding for the 
avoidance of doubt, all other costs incurred by West Berkshire relating to any such redundancy 
process such as, without prejudice to the generality of the foregoing: 

(i) management and HR costs in dealing with any such redundancy process; and

Page 35



 

7

(ii) any Direct Losses in relation to any employment tribunal claims or other litigation or 
claims arising from any such redundancy process.

Redundancy Payment Share means in respect of any Redundancy Payments incurred, the costs 
shall be apportioned in the Agreed Percentages. 

Relevant Functions means those functions as set out in Schedule 2. 

Replacement Services means any services which are the same as or substantially similar to any of 
the Services and which the Councils receive in substitution for any of the Services following the 
expiry or termination of this Agreement, whether those services are provided by the Councils 
internally and/or by any third party.

Service means the provision of trading standards, licensing and environmental health services as 
more particularly set out in Schedule 5 (Service Specification). For the purposes of the Agreement 
any reference to Services has the same meaning as Service. 

Service Specification means the specification set out in Schedule 5 to this agreement

Service User means a person receiving the Service from the PPP.

Staff means those employees (including the Bracknell Forest Employees) engaged by West 
Berkshire in the delivery of the Service. 

Sub-Contract means any contract or agreement, or proposed contract or agreement between West 
Berkshire and any third party whereby that third party agrees to provide to West Berkshire the 
Service or any part of the Service, or facilities or services necessary for the provision of the Joint 
Services or any part of the Services, or necessary for the management, direction or control of the 
Services or any part of the Services.

Sub-Contractor means the third parties that enter into a Sub-Contract with West Berkshire.

1.2 In this Agreement, unless the context requires otherwise:

1.2.1 references to clauses, paragraphs, recitals and Schedules are references to clauses 
and paragraphs of, and recitals and schedules to, this Agreement.  The Schedules form 
part of this Agreement and shall have the same force and effect as if expressly set out 
in the body of this Agreement, and any reference to this Agreement shall include the 
Schedules.  The recitals and headings to clauses and Schedules are for convenience 
only and shall not affect the construction or interpretation of this Agreement;

1.2.2 a reference to a statute or a statutory provision includes a reference to:

(a) the statute or statutory provision as modified or re-enacted or both from time to 
time (whether before or after the date of this Agreement); and

(b) any subordinate legislation made under the statute or statutory provision 
(whether before or after the date of this Agreement),

provided that any such modification, re-enactment or legislation made after the date of 
this Agreement does not materially change the relevant provision;

1.2.3 references to a person shall be construed so as to include any individual, firm, 
corporation, government, state or agency of a state or any joint venture, trust, 
association or partnership (whether or not having separate legal personality);

1.2.4 references to any gender shall include every gender, and the singular shall include the 
plural and vice versa;

Page 36



 

8

1.2.5 words and expressions defined in the Companies Acts shall have the same meanings 
when used in this Agreement;

1.2.6 references to writing or written shall include any mode of reproducing words in a legible 
and non-transitory form;

1.2.7 references to a party, Council or the Councils includes any person who agrees to be 
bound by the provisions of this Agreement from time to time but, for the avoidance of 
doubt, shall not refer to any person who has ceased to have any obligations under this 
Agreement from time to time;

1.2.8 in construing this Agreement, the rule known as ejusdem generis rule shall not apply 
nor shall any similar rule or approach to the construction of this Agreement and 
accordingly general words introduced or followed by the word(s) other or including or 
in particular shall not be given a restrictive meaning because they are followed or 
preceded (as the case may be) by particular examples intended to fall within the 
meaning of the general words; 

1.2.9 references to a month shall be construed as a reference to a period starting on one day 
in a calendar month and ending on the numerically corresponding day in the next 
calendar month or, if there is no numerically corresponding day in the next calendar 
month, the last day in the next calendar month;

1.2.10 references to a document in the agreed form are to a document in a form agreed by 
the Parties and initialled by or on behalf of each of them for the purpose of identification; 
and

1.2.11 where in this Agreement an individual is referred to by name or by the post they hold 
within their organisation, such reference shall be deemed to mean either that individual 
or the person from time to time holding that appointment or post or such suitably 
qualified person as may from time to time be nominated by that organisation. 

2 TERM 

2.1 Subject to Clause 2.2 this Agreement will start on the Commencement Date and shall 
continue for a period of ten (10) years ("the Initial Term"). 

2.2 Subject to Clause 2.3 upon the expiration of the Initial Term this Agreement shall automatically 
renew for a further period of ten (10) years on the same terms as set out in this Agreement 
unless notice is provided in accordance with Clause 6.

2.3 Not less than twenty four months before the expiry of the Initial Term the Joint Management 
Board shall meet to decide whether to recommend to the Joint Committee and the Councils 
that the Agreement continues, having regard to whether the:

2.3.1 Objectives set out in Clause 3.5 having been met;

2.3.2 Performance of the Service is satisfactory and any agreed KPIs are 
substantially met;

2.3.3 Agreed savings and costs are in accordance with expectations; and 

2.3.4 Agreement should continue or be modified or changed in any respect.

3 GENERAL PRINCIPLES AND OBJECTIVES

3.1 This Agreement has been entered into by the Councils to establish and effect provisions for 
performance of the Service and to clarify the Councils’ responsibilities in respect thereof and 
to each other.

Page 37



 

9

3.2 The Councils will work together in good faith and in an open, co-operative and collaborative 
manner for the duration of this Agreement. The Councils’ members and officers will work 
together in the spirit of mutual trust in order to endeavour to successfully deliver the Service 
and will respond in a timely manner to all relevant requests from the other Council.

3.3 The Councils shall use all reasonable endeavours to procure that their respective members 
and officers who are involved in the Joint Committee shall at all times act in the best interests 
of the Service. 

3.4 Each of the Councils hereby represents to each other that it has obtained all necessary 
consents sufficient to ensure the delegation of the Relevant Functions provided for by this 
Agreement.

3.5 The Councils shall establish, develop and implement their relationship with the objectives of: 

3.5.1 implementing the Service from the Commencement Date in accordance with the 
Service Specification set out in Schedule 5 and within the agreed budgets; 

3.5.2 utilising resources to best effect and delivering long term savings and benefits to 
the Councils; 

3.5.3 delivering the priorities for the Service set out in the Service Specification; and

3.5.4 commitment to people including Staff and Service Users.

4 ESTABLISHMENT OF JOINT COMMITTEE

4.1 The Councils shall establish a Joint Committee under Sections 101(5) and 102 of the Local 
Government Act 1972; Sections 9EA and 9EB of the Local Government Act 2000; and the 
Local Authorities (Arrangements for the Discharge of Functions) (England) Regulations 2012.

4.2 The functions of the Joint Committee shall be as set out in Schedule 1 to this Agreement or as 
varied by the Councils from time to time.

4.3 Each Council shall appoint two members as set out in Schedule 1 onto the Joint Committee to 
decide the policy and strategy of the Service and to oversee the provision of the Service 
throughout each Council’s administrative area from the Commencement Date.

4.4 The Joint Committee shall be authorised to exercise the functions set out in Schedule 2 and 
shall have the powers of the Councils over the finances made available as set out in Schedule 
4, except to the extent delegated to the West Berkshire Head of Culture and Environmental 
Protection and/or relevant Service Manager. 

4.5 Each Council warrants that it shall not do or omit to do or permit to be done anything which 
prevents or inhibits or seeks to prevent or inhibit the Joint Committee from carrying out all or 
any of the Relevant Functions.

5 HOST AUTHORITY

5.1 West Berkshire will act as the Host Authority from the Commencement Date in respect of all 
aspects of the delivery of the Services unless stated otherwise in this Agreement. 

5.2 Wokingham and Bracknell Forest shall delegate the operational management of the Service to 
West Berkshire and West Berkshire shall delegate the same to the West Berkshire Head of 
Culture and Environmental Protection and the relevant Service Manager to operate, pursuant 
to the policy direction set by the Joint Committee.  The Service Managers shall deliver regular 
performance management and monitoring reports to the Joint Committee.

Page 38



 

10

5.3 All legal rights and obligations of the Host Authority shall be held on behalf of the Councils and 
shall be exercised in accordance with the terms of this Agreement.

5.4 The Councils agree that the Host Authority (in accordance with its Constitution) shall be 
authorised to institute and defend legal proceedings in relation to the Relevant Functions and 
the PPP.

6 GOVERNANCE

6.1 The Councils confirm that the Service shall be delivered through the PPP under the terms of 
this Agreement. Strategic policy, performance monitoring and oversight will be delegated to 
the Joint Committee and day to day management and operation will be delegated to West 
Berkshire's Head of Culture and Environmental Protection and then sub-delegated to the 
Service Managers.

6.2 The Councils will establish a Joint Management Board with the overall purpose of advising the 
Joint Committee to enable it to carry out its governance role as effectively as possible. 

6.3 The Joint Management Board will have the membership and terms of reference as set out at 
Schedule 1 of this Agreement provided always that the Joint Committee may agree at any 
time to amend the membership and/or terms of reference of the Joint Management Board. 

6.4 The Councils will establish a Joint Management Team, which will have the membership and 
terms of reference as set out at Schedule 1 of this Agreement provided always that the Joint 
Committee may agree at any time to amend the membership and/or terms of reference of the 
Joint Management Team. 

6.5 The Councils agree that they shall seek to operate this Agreement through consensus 
wherever possible and shall use the Joint Management Board as a forum for discussing and 
seeking to resolve any issues, concerns or complaints arising in relation to the operation of 
this Agreement. 

7 BUDGET SETTING AND SUPPORT COSTS

7.1 The budget setting process for the PPP is as set out in Schedule 4.

7.2 All support costs or liabilities necessarily incurred by the Councils in connection with the 
operation of the PPP will be borne: 

7.2.1 jointly by the Councils in the Agreed Percentages; or

7.2.2 as expressly set out elsewhere within this Agreement; or 

7.2.3 as agreed between the Councils in such specific or unusual circumstances as 
may arise from time to time.

7.3 Any costs or payments made by West Berkshire as the Host Authority in cases of emergency 
shall be in accordance with the provisions set out in Schedule 4.

8 MONITORING OF THE SERVICES

8.1 The Service will be monitored in accordance with the procedures and service standards 
referred to in the Business Plan which will be agreed annually by the Joint Committee. 

9 EQUIPMENT AND ASSETS

9.1 Bracknell Forest shall on the Commencement Date transfer [free from any encumbrance] to 
West Berkshire for the consideration of £1(one pound) all assets and equipment which 
immediately prior to the Commencement Date were used by Bracknell Forest to deliver 

Page 39



 

11

trading standards, licensing and environmental health services ("the Bracknell Forest Assets") 
Prior to the Commencement Date Bracknell Forest shall provide a list of Bracknell Forest 
Assets to West Berkshire;

9.2 Bracknell Forest shall to the extent that may be necessary execute any documents and do all 
such acts or things to give effect to the transfer of the Bracknell Forest Assets to West 
Berkshire.

9.3 Upon the Commencement Date the Bracknell Forest Assets shall form part of the Assets and 
shall remain the property of West Berkshire for the purposes of provision of the Service.

9.4 Any equipment or assets procured for the purposes of the Service after the Commencement 
Date shall be procured in accordance with Clause 13 (Procurement Process).

9.5 The Service Managers shall be responsible for arranging for the maintenance and repairing of 
all Assets, the cost of which shall be paid for from the Budget.  

9.6 The Joint Management Board will be responsible for identifying security and insurance 
arrangements for all the Assets and items listed in the inventory, in particular assets and items 
held within the Premises; at other Council locations; or within the homes of individuals.

9.7 On termination of this Agreement and the Joint Committee, all Assets relating to the Service 
shall be shared between the Councils in accordance with the Agreed Percentages. 

10 INTELLECTUAL PROPERTY 

10.1 Each Council grants to the other Councils for the duration of this agreement an irrevocable, 
non-exclusive, royalty free licence to copy and use in connection with PPP any IT systems or 
materials (“Joint Committee Materials”) in which it has Intellectual Property Rights but this 
licence is not to extend to:

10.1.1 copying or using those IT systems other than in connection with the Joint 
Committee and the Service;

10.1.2 granting any other person the right to copy or to use those IT systems;

10.1.3 selling, transferring or otherwise disposing of or granting rights in those IT 
systems; or

10.1.4 any IT systems in which it does not own the Intellectual Property Rights.

10.2 A Council which makes available IT systems to the PPP under Clause 10.1 shall indemnify 
and hold harmless the Council to whom those materials are supplied against any liability or 
damages (including costs) that may be awarded or agreed to be paid to any third party 
because of a claim or action that the normal operation, possession or use of the Joint 
Committee Materials by that Council under Clause 10.1 infringes the Intellectual Property 
Rights of that third party.

10.3 All Intellectual Property Rights in any Joint Committee Materials or any other materials which 
are produced or developed for or in connection with the Joint Committee and the Services are 
to belong to the Councils jointly.

10.4 Each Council agrees to co-operate with the others in the protection of the Intellectual Property 
Rights in the Joint Committee Materials and in connection with this to take all action 
reasonably required by the Council which has the Intellectual Property Rights (subject to being 
reimbursed for all costs reasonably incurred).

Page 40



 

12

10.5 Each Council agrees promptly to notify each other in writing of any infringement or potential 
infringement of that Council’s Intellectual Property Rights in connection with this Joint 
Committee and the Services of which it becomes aware.

11 STAFFING

11.1 The Councils acknowledge and agree that the provision of the Service through the PPP from 
the Commencement Date shall, with respect to each of the Bracknell Forest Employees 
constitute a relevant transfer to West Berkshire, acting as the Host Authority, for the purposes 
of TUPE. The Councils further agree that as a consequence of that transfer the contracts of 
employment made between Bracknell Forest and the Bracknell Forest Employees shall have 
effect from and after the Commencement Date as if originally made between West Berkshire 
and the Bracknell Forest Employees.

11.2 On or before twenty eight (28) days before the Commencement Date, Bracknell Forest shall in 
relation to all Bracknell Forest Employees provide (and where necessary update) such 
information as West Berkshire may reasonably request (subject to all applicable provisions of 
the Data Protection Act 1998), but including : 

11.2.1 their ages, dates of commencement of employment or engagement and gender;

11.2.2 details of whether they are employed, self-employed contractors or consultants, 
agency workers or otherwise;

11.2.3 the identity of the employer or relevant contracting party;

11.2.4 their relevant contractual notice periods and any other terms relating to 
termination of employment, including redundancy procedures, and redundancy 
payments;

11.2.5 their wages or salaries;

11.2.6 details of other employment-related benefits, including (without limitation) 
medical insurance, life assurance, pension or other retirement benefit schemes 
and company car schedules applicable to them;

11.2.7 any outstanding or potential contractual, statutory or other liabilities in respect of 
such individuals (including in respect of personal injury claims);

11.2.8 details of any sickness absences

11.2.9 details of any such individuals on long term sickness absence, parental leave, 
maternity leave or other authorised long term absence;

11.2.10 details of any proposals or agreement to vary their terms and conditions of 
employment including any re-grading, pay increases or promotions;

11.2.11 copies of all relevant documents and materials relating to such information, 
including copies of relevant contracts of employment (or relevant standard 
contracts if applied generally in respect of such employees); and

11.2.12 details of any disciplinary action taken or grievances raised;

11.2.13 any other Employee Liability Information.

11.3 Bracknell Forest shall warrant that such information is complete and accurate as far as it is 
aware or should reasonably be aware as at the date it is disclosed and shall indemnify and 
keep indemnified West Berkshire against any Direct Losses caused to West Berkshire by any 
inaccuracy or incompleteness in such information.

Page 41



 

13

11.4 Bracknell Forest shall indemnify West Berkshire against all Direct Losses incurred by West 
Berkshire in connection with or as a result of any claim or demand by or on behalf of any 
employee of Bracknell Forest (including the Bracknell Forest Employees) (whether in contract, 
tort, under statute, pursuant to European law or otherwise) including, without limitation, any 
"Employment Claim" in each case arising directly or indirectly from any act, fault or omission 
of Bracknell Forest in respect of any such employee in the period before the Commencement 
Date, provided that such costs, claims, expenses and liabilities are not payable as a result of 
any act or omission of West Berkshire. 

11.5 Bracknell Forest and West Berkshire will comply with their obligations under TUPE for each 
relevant transfer under TUPE pursuant to this Agreement (including without limitation the 
obligations under Regulation 13 of TUPE) and each Council shall indemnify the other against 
all Direct Losses incurred in connection with or as a result of any claim or demand (whether in 
contract, tort, under statute, pursuant to European law or otherwise including, without 
limitation any Employment Claim, provided that such Direct Losses are not payable to the 
extent that they are as a result of any act or omission of the Council claiming under this 
Clause. 

11.6 Bracknell Forest shall indemnify West Berkshire against all Direct Losses and/or Employment 
Claims incurred by West Berkshire in connection with or as a result of any claim or demand 
(whether in contract, tort, under statute, pursuant to European law or otherwise) including, 
without limitation, any Employment Claims made at any time by or on behalf of any employee 
of Bracknell Forest other than the Bracknell Forest Employees who claim to have become an 
employee of or have rights against West Berkshire by virtue of TUPE.

11.7 Bracknell Forest shall indemnify and keep indemnified West Berkshire against all Direct 
Losses and/or Employment Claims including without limitation claims under Regulations 4(9) 
and/or 4(11) of TUPE arising from or as a consequence of:

11.7.1 any changes to terms and conditions of employment or to working conditions 
proposed by West Berkshire in relation to the Service on or after the 
Commencement Date which are required in order to deliver the Service as 
required by Bracknell Forest; 

11.7.2 any of the Bracknell Forest Employees informing Bracknell Forest or West 
Berkshire they object to being employed by West Berkshire; and 

11.7.3 any change in identity of the Bracknell Forest Employees' employer as a result 
of the operation of TUPE.  

save to the extent that any such Loss or Employment Claim arises from or is due to any 
unlawful act or omission on the part of West Berkshire or any of its agents.

11.8 West Berkshire, Wokingham and Bracknell Forest shall share in the Agreed Percentages all 
costs, claims, liabilities and expenses (including reasonable legal expenses) incurred by West 
Berkshire in connection with or as a result of any claim or demand by any Staff (whether in 
contract, tort, under statute, pursuant to European law or otherwise) including, without 
limitation, any Employment Claims in each case arising directly or indirectly from any act, fault 
or omission of any Council in respect of any such Staff on or after the Commencement Date. 

Redundancy Costs

11.9 West Berkshire, Wokingham and Bracknell Forest acknowledge and agree that in relation to 
any redundancy or reorganisation process following the Commencement Date, the provisions 
of this Clause 11.9 shall apply:

11.9.1 West Berkshire shall no later than twenty-one (21) days prior to the potential 
termination of the employment of any Staff notify Wokingham and Bracknell 
Forest in writing of the reasons for such redundancy in connection with such 
redundancy or reorganisation process together with, on an open book basis, 

Page 42



 

14

confirmation of any Redundancy Payment it is obliged to pay to such Staff in the 
event that their employment is terminated by reason of redundancy;

11.9.2 West Berkshire and Wokingham and Bracknell Forest shall use reasonable 
endeavours to mitigate any costs incurred in relation to any potential 
redundancy and shall, as far as reasonably practical, seek to redeploy any 
potentially redundant Staff to other roles within West Berkshire, Wokingham and 
Bracknell Forest;

11.9.3 where West Berkshire, Wokingham and Bracknell Forest have complied with 
the requirements of Clauses 11.9.1 and 11.9.2 and they have been unable to 
redeploy such employees in order to avoid the redundancy, the costs in relation 
to the Redundancy Payment incurred in relation to any Staff following the 
Commencement Date which arise as a result of any redundancy or 
reorganisation process shall be borne in the Agreed Percentages.

Pensions on Transfer 

11.10 The Parties agree that, following discussion and agreement with the Fund: 

11.10.1 Bracknell Forest is to be treated as a scheme employer that ceased to be the 
employer of the Bracknell Forest Employees with effect from the 
Commencement Date; 

11.10.2 Bracknell Forest will procure that the Fund instructed the Actuary to produce an 
Exit Valuation for Bracknell Forest and Bracknell Forest agrees upon receipt to 
disclose the same to West Berkshire; 

11.10.3 West Berkshire will be the scheme employer in respect of the Bracknell Forest 
Employees within the Fund with effect from the Commencement Date; and

11.10.4 that any sum identified as being owed by Bracknell Forest to the Fund by the 
Exit Valuation ("Exit Deficit") shall be the responsibility of and paid to the Fund 
by Bracknell Forest, subject to Bracknell Forest and West Berkshire agreeing 
with the Fund within thirty (30) Working Days of confirmation of the Exit Deficit 
in the Exit Valuation, the payment terms and timescale for Bracknell Forest to 
pay the Exit Deficit to the Fund. 

11.11 Bracknell Forest undertakes to indemnify and keep indemnified West Berkshire for any liability 
towards any Bracknell Forest Employees arising in respect of;

11.11.1 pension rights within the LGPS for periods of employment prior and up to the 
Commencement Date; and

11.11.2 any claim by, payment to, or loss incurred by West Berkshire in respect of the 
failure of Bracknell Forest to account to the Fund for any payments or any 
arrears of any sum payable by Bracknell Forest pursuant to clause 11.10.4.

Pensions after Transfer 

11.12 In the event that an election, decision or action of the PPP in relation to any Staff leads to 
immediate payment being due to the West Berkshire Pension Fund in accordance with the 
Local Government Pension Scheme Regulations 2013 (or any such amending or replacing 
regulations) then these costs shall be borne in the Agreed Percentages provided always that 
wherever possible the Joint Committee and the Service Managers shall consult with the 
Councils and take into consideration their views as to the impact of such an election, decision 
or action prior to making it. 

Page 43



 

15

11.13 In the event of expiry or termination of this Agreement the Councils agree that the following 
principles shall apply in relation to any sum identified as being owed by West Berkshire to the 
Fund by the Future Exit Valuation ("Future Exit Deficit");

11.13.1 In the event of the Staff being the subject of a relevant transfer under TUPE to a 
third party service provider of Replacement Services appointed by the Councils 
following the termination or expiry of this Agreement then any Future Exit Deficit 
shall be apportioned between the Councils in line with the Agreed Percentages.

11.13.2 In the event that a Council or the Councils decide to take back any 
Replacement Services internally then;

(a) the Councils shall identify and agree the appropriate numbers of Staff that 
each Council requires in order to deliver the Replacement Services (the 
"Identified Staff"); and 

(b) any Future Exit Deficit in respect of Identified Staff shall be the responsibility 
of the Council which has accepted the Identified Staff in order to deliver its 
Replacement Services.

11.13.3 Wokingham and Bracknell Forest shall indemnify West Berkshire in respect of 
any sums that they have agreed to incur in line with the principles set out in 
11.13.1 and 11.13.2 above in respect of the Future Exit Deficit and for which 
West Berkshire must make payment to the Fund.

12 APPLICATION OF SECTION 113 LGA 1972

Wokingham and Bracknell Forest agree that where the employees of West Berkshire are engaged 
on work for Wokingham and Bracknell Forest the provisions of section 113 of the 1972 Act will apply 
and that those employees will be placed by West Berkshire at the disposal of Wokingham and 
Bracknell Forest for the purposes of their functions. West Berkshire confirms that it shall have duly 
consulted such employees prior to placing them at Wokingham and Bracknell Forest's disposal and 
that West Berkshire shall continue to treat such employees as its own employees.

13 PROCUREMENT PROCESS 

13.1 West Berkshire shall act as Procurement Agent for any procurement of a contract in relation to 
the Services.

13.2 Any procurement by the Procurement Agent shall adhere to the constitution for the Council 
acting as Procurement Agent, including which officers are authorised to enter into contracts.

13.3 Where the Procurement Agent enters into any contract or communications with any 
prospective supplier in relation to the Services, it shall make it clear in any such contract or 
communication that it is doing so on behalf of the Councils. 

14 ACCOMMODATION 

14.1 The Councils agree that to retain local working the PPP is to be hosted in locations in the 
administrative areas of the Councils and the Councils accordingly undertake to make available 
all necessary accommodation, working space, internet access and associated facilities and 
services, including such associated facilities as shall be necessary to host the PPP each of 
the Councils unless otherwise agreed by the Councils.

14.2 The other Councils hereby licenses all appropriately authorised employees of West Berkshire 
engaged in the delivery of the Service to enter its premises for the purposes of the 
performance of the Service and to utilise free of charge such associated services and facilities 
as shall be provided by West Berkshire to the other Councils for the purposes of the Service 
from time to time.

Page 44



 

16

14.3 The Councils shall use reasonable endeavours to avoid or minimise any disruption to the 
other Party's operations for the duration of the Agreement. 

15 BRANDING

15.1 Joint branding will be deployed across all publications relating to the Joint Committee and the 
Services it provides, unless agreed otherwise in writing between the Councils.

15.2 Use of any Council’s logo and other branding shall be governed by the provisions of Schedule 
3. 

16 DEFAULTS

16.1 If any of the Councils commit a Default then they shall as soon as reasonably practicable 
notify the other Councils in writing and take such steps as are necessary to rectify the Default.

16.2 If the Default has not been rectified within thirty (30) Working Days to the reasonable 
satisfaction of the other Councils then the matter shall be referred to the Joint Management 
Board unless the Councils agree a longer period.

16.3 The Councils shall use reasonable endeavours to resolve the Default through the Joint 
Management Board.

16.4 If the Councils cannot resolve the Default through the Joint Management Board within a 
reasonable time any of the Councils may escalate the matter for resolution, in accordance with 
Clause 22 (Disputes). 

17 TERMINATION OF THIS AGREEMENT

17.1 Any Council may give at least twelve (12) months' notice to terminate ("Notice of Termination") 
to the other Councils after three years of operation of this Agreement, such Notice of 
Termination to expire on the next following 31st March, or twelve months' notice to expire at 
the end of the Initial Term, as the case may be. Once a Notice of Termination has been 
served the Councils shall within 6 months make all reasonable endeavours to sign off an 
agreed Exit Plan in accordance with the principles set out Clause 17.5.

17.2 Any Council may terminate this Agreement by serving notice immediately at any time upon 
another Council committing a Fundamental Breach of this Agreement. Such a notice can only 
be served when the process set out in Clause 16 has been exhausted. 

17.3 This Agreement may be terminated upon the mutual consent of all of the Councils by giving 
Notice of Termination.

17.4 Where by reason of any change in law or other reason not attributable to the fault of the 
Councils prohibits or prevents one of the Councils from giving effect to their obligations under 
this Agreement, any of the Councils to this Agreement may terminate this Agreement so as to 
avoid the Councils from breaching legislative or otherwise binding obligations upon it by 
written notice effective upon receipt by the other Councils, specifying the date upon which the 
termination should take effect, provided that the terminating Council has first entered into 
discussion in good faith with the other Councils and used all reasonable endeavours to 
negotiate a solution with the other Councils, whereby the intent and purpose of this Agreement 
may be fulfilled by another mechanism. 

17.5 West Berkshire as Host Authority may terminate this Agreement by serving notice immediately 
at any time upon either Bracknell Forest or Wokingham reducing the payments to be made 
pursuant to Clause 7.2 and Schedule 4 of this Agreement to a level which West Berkshire as 
Host Authority deems unacceptably low.

Page 45



 

17

17.6 If a Notice of Termination is served the Joint Management Team shall cooperate in good faith 
to agree an 'Exit Plan' setting out how the arrangements considered in this Agreement will be 
ended and which shall be in accordance with the agreed principles:

17.6.1 that continuation and quality of service delivery are paramount and options 
should be assessed in this light; 

17.6.2 exit arrangements shall seek to minimise the costs to the Councils of exiting or 
terminating this agreement;

17.6.3 the Exit Plan for each Service shall identify critical timescales and issues as 
appropriate with proposals to address them;

17.6.4 the option of transferring the entire workforce to a new host should be explored 
before deciding to split the Service; 

17.6.5 where the Councils decide to return to direct service provision then the Service 
Managers shall produce recommendations for the staffing structures to be 
considered by the Councils according to previous usage and future perceived 
need.  Where any staff cannot be placed with any Council then all Councils shall 
consider redeployment; 

17.6.6 the Councils in consultation with the Fund shall instruct the Actuary to produce 
an Exit Valuation to enable the Joint Committee and the Councils to consider 
the pension implications of transferring staff in accordance with the principle that 
any deficit on the Fund arising from the break-up of PPP shall be attributable to 
each of the Councils in the Agreed Percentages (where the Services are 
outsourced) or attributable to the Councils based upon the transfer of staff back 
to them; 

17.6.7 liabilities relating to the Services shall be, in the absence of specific agreed 
alternatives or provision in this Agreement, shared and/or borne by the Councils 
in accordance with the Agreed Percentages.

17.6.8 the Assets shall be dealt with in accordance with the provisions set out in 9.7.

18 CONSEQUENCES OF TERMINATION 

18.1 All liabilities under Clause 20 shall survive the termination of this Agreement. 

18.2 The Council which exercises its right to terminate under Clause 17.1 shall indemnify the other 
Councils against all Direct Losses (which the other parties shall take all reasonable steps to 
mitigate) arising out of such termination. 

18.3 In the event of termination of this Agreement under Clause 17.2 any Direct Losses of the 
Councils arising out of such termination shall be borne by the Council that has committed the 
Fundamental Breach of this Agreement. 

18.4 In the event of termination of this Agreement under Clause 17.2 any of the Councils shall also 
be at liberty to pursue all remedies available to them at law.

18.5 In the event of termination of this Agreement under Clause 17.3 each Council shall bear its 
own losses incurred by the other Council as a result of such termination.

18.6 In the event of termination of this Agreement under Clause 17.4 each Council shall bear its 
own losses, provided however that if the terminating Council has not entered into discussions 
in good faith with the other Councils and/or not use all reasonable endeavours to negotiate a 
solution with the other Councils, whereby the intent and purpose of this agreement may be 
fulfilled by another mechanism, the terminating Councils shall indemnify the other Councils 

Page 46



 

18

against all Direct Losses (which the other Councils shall take all reasonable steps to mitigate) 
incurred by the other Councils as a result of such termination. 

18.7 In the event of termination of this Agreement under Clause 17.5 any Direct Losses of West 
Berkshire and the other Council which has not reduced its payments under this Agreement 
arising out of such termination shall be borne by the Council which reduced its payments 
under the Agreement resulting in its termination under Clause 17.5.

19 INSURANCE

19.1 West Berkshire shall take out and maintain or procure the taking out and maintenance of the 
following insurances and any other insurance as may be required by law to cover the activities 
of the PPP:

19.1.1 Public liability insurance; 

19.1.2 Employers liability insurance; and

19.1.3 Professional indemnity insurance.

If there is an increased cost to this insurance because it relates to the PPP, the additional 
costs shall be borne by the PPP in the Agreed Percentages.

19.2 West Berkshire must also ensure that any of its Sub-Contractors that are providing any or all 
of the Services on its behalf take out and maintain equivalent insurance to levels of cover 
agreed by the Councils. 

19.3 Each Council shall, at its own cost, take out and maintain or procure the taking out and 
maintenance of insurance to cover Premises it occupies. 

19.4 All Assets shall be insured by West Berkshire.

19.5 No Council shall take any action or fail to take any reasonable action or (insofar as it is 
reasonably within its power) allow anything to occur (including a failure to disclose any fact) 
which would entitle any insurer to refuse to pay any claim under an insurance policy in which 
that Council is assured, a co-insured or an additional person or which may make such a claim 
wholly or partly repayable. 

19.6 Each Council shall provide to the others on request:

19.6.1 Copies of insurance policies required to be maintained under this Clause 19; 
and

19.6.2 Evidence that the premiums under all insurances have been paid and that the 
insurances are in full force and effect in accordance with the requirements of 
this Clause 19. 

20 INDEMNITIES AND LIABILITIES

20.1 Each Council (“Indemnifying Council”) shall be wholly liable for any loss suffered by another 
Council (“Benefiting Council”) in relation to the operation of the Services in respect of the 
Indemnifying Council prior to the Commencement Date (except any accrued redundancy 
liabilities) and shall indemnify the Benefiting Council against any loss suffered by the 
Benefiting Council to the extent such loss relates to the operation of the Indemnifying 
Council’s Service department(s) prior to the Commencement Date. 

20.2 Notwithstanding the provisions of Clause 20.3 and subject to Clause 20.1 any loss or costs 
suffered by any Council arising from or relating to the operation of the Services and the terms 
of this Agreement shall be shared between the Councils in accordance with the Agreed 

Page 47



 

19

Percentages unless and to the extent that alternative arrangements are agreed in writing by 
the Councils or provided for in this Agreement. The Councils acknowledge that the 
governance arrangements provided for in this Agreement will be the primary means by which 
the Councils will monitor and manage the risk of liability arising from or relating to the 
operation of the PPP. 

20.3 No Council limits its liability for:

20.3.1 death or personal injury caused by its negligence, or that of its employees, 
agents or sub-contractors; 

20.3.2 fraud by it or its employees; 

20.3.3 breach of any obligation as to title implied by statute; or

20.3.4 any other act or omission, liability for which may not be limited under applicable 
law.

21 MEMBER AND OFFICER LIABILITY

21.1 When working as a member of the Joint Committee, the members shall be deemed to be 
working on behalf of their own Council even where the particular matter under consideration 
relates to or also relates to another Council.

21.2 When working on the Service, employees shall be deemed to be working on behalf of their 
employing authority and, where relevant, made available and working on behalf of the other 
Councils under Section 113 of the Local Government Act 1972.

21.3 In consequence of Clauses 21.1 and 21.2 both members and officers shall be treated as 
falling within the statutory immunity provided by Section 265 of the Public Health Act 1875, as 
applied by Section 39 of the Local Government (Miscellaneous Provisions) Act 1976, in 
respect of their actions or omissions in connection with the Service, provided they act bona 
fide in good faith.

22 DISPUTES

22.1 The Councils shall attempt, in good faith, to resolve any Dispute promptly by negotiation which 
shall be conducted as follows:

22.1.1 the Dispute shall be referred to the Lead Officers;

22.1.2 if the Dispute cannot be resolved to the satisfaction of the Councils by the Lead 
Officers within fourteen (14) days after the Dispute has been referred in writing 
to the Lead Officers, the Dispute may be referred, by any Council, to the Joint 
Management Team for resolution;

22.1.3 if the Dispute cannot be resolved to the satisfaction of the Councils by the Joint 
Management Team within fourteen (14) days after the Dispute has been 
referred in writing to the Joint Management Team, the Dispute may be referred, 
by any Council, to the Joint Management Board for resolution;

22.1.4 if the Dispute cannot be resolved by the Joint Management Board within 
fourteen (14) days after the Dispute has been referred in writing, any Council 
may give notice to the other Council in writing (“Dispute Notice”) that a Dispute 
has arisen; and

22.1.5 within seven (7) days of the date of the Dispute Notice, each Council shall refer 
the Dispute to the chief executives of the Councils who shall consider the 

Page 48



 

20

Dispute Notice and forward it together with a recommendation on resolution to 
the Councils within fourteen (14) days of receiving the Dispute Notice.

22.2 If the Councils are unable, or fail, to resolve the Dispute within twenty-one (21) days of receipt 
of the Dispute Notice the Councils may attempt to resolve the Dispute by mediation in 
accordance with Clause 22.3.

22.3 If the Councils have failed to agree on a resolution, any Council may refer any Dispute for 
mediation pursuant to this Clause 22.3. No Council may commence any court proceedings / 
arbitration in relation to any Dispute until it has attempted to settle the Dispute by mediation 
and either the mediation has terminated or the relevant Council has failed to participate in the 
mediation, provided that the right to issue proceedings is not prejudiced by a delay.  The 
following provisions shall apply to any such reference to mediation:

22.3.1 the reference shall be a reference under the Model Mediation Procedure (MMP) 
of the Centre for Effective Dispute Resolution (CEDR) for the time being in 
force;

22.3.2 the Councils shall, immediately on such referral, co-operate fully, promptly and 
in good faith with CEDR and the mediator and shall do all such acts and provide 
all such information or documents as CEDR or the mediator may reasonably 
require to give effect to such mediation, including entering into an agreement in, 
or substantially in, the form of CEDR's Model Mediation Agreement for the time 
being in force; and

22.3.3 to the extent not provided for by such agreement of the MMP:

(a) the mediation shall commence by a Council serving on the others written notice 
setting out, in summary form, the issues in dispute and calling on theother Councils 
to agree the appointment of a mediator; and

(b) the mediation shall be conducted by a sole mediator (which shall not exclude the 
presence of a pupil mediator) agreed between the Councils or, in default of 
agreement, appointed by CEDR.

22.4 Should the mediation fail, in whole or in part, any of the Councils may, upon giving written 
notice, and within twenty eight (28) days thereof, apply to the President or the Deputy 
President, for the time being, of the Chartered Institute of Arbitrators, for the appointment of a 
single arbitrator, for final resolution. The arbitrator shall have no connection with the mediator 
or the mediation proceedings, unless the Councils have consented in writing. The arbitration 
shall be governed by both the Arbitration Act 1996 and the Controlled Cost Rules of the 
Chartered Institute of Arbitrators (2000 Edition), as amended, which Rules are deemed to be 
incorporated by reference into this clause. The seat of the arbitration shall be England and 
Wales

22.5 Without prejudice to any rights to seek redress in court, the Councils shall continue to provide 
the Service and to perform their obligations under this Agreement notwithstanding any Dispute 
or the implementation of the procedures set out in this Clause 22.

23 CONDUCT OF CLAIMS

23.1 This Clause 3 shall apply to the conduct, by a Council, of claims made by a third person 
against any Council in connection with any liability described in Clause 20.

23.2 If a Council (“the Notifying Council”) receives any notice, demand, letter or other document 
concerning any claim for which it appears that the Notifying Council is or may become entitled 
to, be indemnified under this Agreement, the Notifying Council shall notify the other Councils 
in writing as soon as reasonable practicable and in any event within  twenty (20) Working 
Days of its receipt.

Page 49



 

21

23.3 The Notifying Council shall be free at any time to give notice to the other Councils that it is 
retaining or taking over (as the case may be) the conduct of any defence, dispute, 
compromise or appeal of any claim made by a third party in connection with any matter 
described in Clause 20 or any incidental negotiations.  On receipt of such a notice a Council 
shall promptly take all reasonable steps necessary to transfer the conduct of such claim to the 
Notifying Council, and the other Councils shall provide to the Notifying Council all reasonable 
co-operation, access and assistance for the purposes of considering and resisting such claim. 
If the Notifying Council gives any notice pursuant to this clause, then the other Councils shall 
be released from any future liability under its indemnity in respect of such claim.

23.4 If another Council pays to the Notifying Council an amount in respect of an indemnity and the 
Notifying Council subsequently recovers (whether by payment, discount, credit, saving, relief 
or other benefit or otherwise) a sum which is directly referable to the fact, matter, event or 
circumstances giving rise to the claim under the indemnity, the Notifying Council shall 
immediately repay the other Council the lesser of:

23.4.1 the sum recovered (or the value of the saving or benefit obtained) less any out-
of-pocket costs and expenses properly incurred by the Notifying Council in 
recovering it; and 

23.4.2 the amount paid to the Notifying Council by the other Council in respect of the 
claim under the relevant authority.

23.5 The other Council is repaid in accordance with Clause 23.4 only to the extent that the amount 
of the recovery aggregated with the amount paid by that Council exceeds the Notifying 
Council’s losses.

23.6 The Councils shall comply with the requirements of any insurer who may have an obligation to 
consider any claim made in respect of any liability arising under this Agreement.

24 CONFIDENTIALITY

24.1 Each Council undertakes to the other Councils that neither it nor any of its sub-contractors will 
at any time after the date of this Agreement (save as required by Law or by order of a Court of 
competent jurisdiction or any other relevant regulatory authority or as expressly permitted to 
be disclosed) use any Confidential Information (other than for the purposes of this Agreement) 
or disclose or divulge any Confidential Information to any person (other than to officers or 
employees of the Councils) and that it shall use its best endeavours to prevent such use or 
publication or disclosure of any Confidential Information by any other person.

24.2 Except to the extent set out in this Clause 24, or where disclosure is expressly permitted 
elsewhere in this Agreement, each Council shall:

24.2.1 treat the other Councils' Confidential Information as confidential; and

24.2.2 not disclose the other Councils' Confidential Information to any other person 
without the owner's prior written consent. 

24.3 Clause 24.1 shall not apply to the extent that:

24.3.1 such information was in the possession of the Council making the disclosure, 
without obligation of confidentiality, prior to its disclosure; 

24.3.2 such information was obtained from a third party without obligation of 
confidentiality; 

24.3.3 such information was already in the public domain at the time of disclosure 
otherwise than through a breach of this Agreement; or 

Page 50



 

22

24.3.4 such information was independently developed without access to the other 
Councils' Confidential Information.

24.4 Each Council may only disclose Confidential Information to its employees who are directly 
involved in the provision of the Services and who need to know the information for the 
purposes of the Service. Each Council shall ensure that such employees are aware of, and 
comply with, these confidentiality obligations.

25 DATA PROTECTION

25.1 Each Council agrees that in relation to any personal data (as defined in the DPA) it holds in 
relation to this Agreement it will comply, as a data controller if necessary, with the DPA 
including:

25.1.1 the eight data protection principles listed in Part 1 of Schedule 1 to the DPA;

25.1.2 requests from data subjects for access to data held by it; and

25.1.3 the requirements relating to notification to the Information Commissioner by 
data controllers under Part 11 of the DPA.

25.2 Each Council agrees that if it acquires personal data from the other Councils in connection 
with this Agreement it will:

25.2.1 maintain a valid and up to date registration or notification under the DPA which 
covers all processing of such data which it undertakes;

25.2.2 only undertake processing of such personal data where it is reasonably required 
in connection with the performance of its obligations under this Agreement;

25.2.3 not disclose such personal data to any third party other than:

(i) a disclosure on terms substantially the same as and no less stringent than 
those required by this Clause, to its employees, agents and contractors to 
whom such disclosure is reasonably necessary in connection with the 
performance of its obligations under this Agreement; or

(ii) as required by court order;

25.2.4 bring into effect and maintain all technical and organisational measures to 
prevent unauthorised or unlawful processing of personal data and accidental 
loss or destruction of, or damage to, personal data including taking reasonable 
steps to ensure the reliability of staff having access to the personal data; and

25.2.5 obtain the consent of data subjects to the disclosure of any personal data 
disclosed under this Agreement.

25.3 Nothing in this Agreement requires any Council to disclose any information to another party if 
that Council considers that to do so would be in breach of the DPA.

26 FREEDOM OF INFORMATION ACT 2000 AND ENVIRONMENTAL INFORMATION 
REGULATIONS 2004 

26.1 Each Council acknowledges that the others are subject to the requirements of the FOI 
Legislation and shall where reasonable assist and co-operate to enable the other Councils to 
comply with these information disclosure obligations.

Page 51



 

23

26.2 Where a Council receives a request for information under the FOI Legislation in relation to 
information which it is holding on behalf of the other Councils in relation to the Service, it shall 
(and shall procure that its sub-contractors shall) :

26.2.1 transfer the request for information to the other Council as soon as practicable 
after receipt and in any event within two  (2) Working Days of receiving a 
request for information;

26.2.2 provide the other Council with a copy of all information in its possession or 
power in the form that the authority requires within ten (10)  Working Days (or 
such longer period as the authority may specify) of the Council requesting that 
information; and

26.2.3 provide all necessary assistance as reasonably requested by the other Council 
to enable the Council to respond to a request for information within the time for 
compliance set out in the FOI Legislation.

26.3 Where a Council receives a request for information under the FOI Legislation which relates to 
the Agreement or the Service, it shall inform the other Council of the request for information as 
soon as practicable after receipt and in any event at least two (2) Working Days before 
disclosure and shall use all reasonable endeavours to consult with the other Councils prior to 
disclosure and shall consider all representations made by the other Councils in relation to the 
decision whether or not to disclose the information requested.

26.4 Each of the Councils shall be responsible for determining in their absolute discretion whether 
any information requested under the FOI Legislation:

26.4.1 is exempt from disclosure;

26.4.2 is to be disclosed in response to a request for information.

26.5 Each of the Councils acknowledges that the other Councils may be obliged under the FOI 
Legislation to disclose information:

26.5.1 without consulting with the other Councils where it has not been practicable to 
achieve consultation; or

26.5.2 following consultation with the other Councils and having taken their views into 
account.

27 WAIVER AND SEVERABILITY

27.1 A failure or delay in exercising any rights, powers or privileges under this Agreement will not 
operate as a waiver of them. The single or partial exercise of any right, power or privilege 
does not prevent any other exercise of it or the exercise of any other right, power or privilege 
(whether arising out of the same factual situation or otherwise). Any waiver of a breach of this 
Agreement is not to be effective unless given in writing signed by the Council waiving its 
entitlement. No waiver is to be deemed a waiver of any subsequent breach or default nor is it 
to affect the other terms of this Agreement.

27.2 The receipt of money does not prevent the Councils receiving it questioning the correctness of 
the amount or any other statement in respect of the money.

27.3 If any term of this Agreement is illegal, void or unenforceable the remainder of this Agreement 
will continue in force as though that term had not been included in it.

28 CONFLICTS OF INTEREST

Page 52



 

24

28.1 If any situation arises where there is an actual or potential conflict of interest or a perceived 
conflict of interest between the Councils or any of the Officers of the Councils then such 
conflict of interest shall be drawn to the attention of the Monitoring Officer of the relevant 
Council, in writing, specifying the details of the actual, potential or perceived conflict.

28.2 Upon receipt of written notice of such a conflict the Monitoring Officer shall advise the 
Monitoring Officer of the other Councils and the three Monitoring Officers shall:

28.2.1 consider the position in relation to their own Council; 

28.2.2 notify the Joint Management Board of the circumstances of the conflict;

28.2.3 prepare recommendations for consideration by the Joint Management Board as 
to how such a conflict may be managed or avoided or other appropriate action 
with a view to ensuring that Officers or the Councils are not compromised in 
performing their functions; 

28.3 The Monitoring Officer of the Host Council shall keep a record on behalf of the Joint 
Committee specifying the details of all actual, potential or perceived conflicts of interest and 
how each one was managed or resolved.

29 ENTIRE AGREEMENT

29.1 This Agreement sets out the whole agreement between the Councils in relation to the 
Services. It supersedes the existing arrangements and invalidates all other commitments, 
representations and warranties relating to its subject matter which any of the Councils has 
made orally or in writing.

29.2 Each of the Councils warrants that it has not entered into this Agreement on the basis of any 
representation made by the other except to the extent that such representation is expressly 
included in it (but nothing in this Clause 29 excludes any liability for fraudulent 
misrepresentation).

30 EXTENT OF OBLIGATIONS AND FURTHER ASSURANCE

30.1 Nothing in this Agreement is to require any Council to act in anyway which is inconsistent with 
its obligations as a local authority.

30.2 Each Council subject to Clause 30.1 shall do all things and execute all further documents that 
the other may reasonably require to give effect to this Agreement.

31 NO PARTNERSHIP OR AGENCY

31.1 Nothing in this Agreement is to constitute or be deemed a partnership within the meaning of 
the Partnership Act 1890, the Limited Partnerships Act 1907, the Limited Liability Partnerships 
Act 2000 or any other legislation concerning partnerships or limited liability partnerships. 

31.2 No Council shall hold itself out as the agent of the other or have any authority to bind the other 
except to the extent that this Agreement expressly provides otherwise.

32 THIRD PARTIES

32.1 This Agreement does not create, and shall not be construed as creating, any right under the 
Contracts (Rights of Third Parties) Act 1999 which is enforceable by any person who is not 
party to this Agreement.

33 VARIATIONS

Page 53



 

25

33.1 Any variations to this Agreement shall only be effective where agreed in writing by all of the 
Councils.

33.2 No consents to any variation to this Agreement are required from any person who is not a 
Council.

34 ASSIGNMENT AND SUBCONTRACTING

34.1 No Council may transfer, assign or pledge its rights or obligations under this Agreement 
(without the consent of the other Councils).

34.2 Any Council may subcontract any of its obligations under this Agreement with the consent of 
the other Councils (such consent not to be unreasonably withheld or delayed) but the Council 
that subcontracts is to be liable for the performance of its subcontractors.

35 GOVERNING LAW AND ENFORCEMENT

35.1 The formation, construction, performance, validity and all aspects of this Agreement are to be 
governed by English law and subject to where provided otherwise under Clause 35 the 
Councils agree to submit to the exclusive jurisdiction of the courts of England and Wales.

35.2 The rights and remedies given by this Agreement are cumulative and do not exclude any other 
rights or remedies given by law or under this Agreement.

36 NOTICES 

36.1 Notices or other communications under this Agreement will be duly served if given by and sent 
to the nominated representative of the Council to be served in accordance with the following 
table with the date of service and method of proof being as set out in it:

Method of service Date of service Proof of service
Personal delivery to the 
nominated representative

Day of delivery Proof of handing to the 
nominated 
representative

Personal delivery of a letter 
addressed to the nominated 
representative at the address for 
service.

Day of delivery if before 16.00 on 
a Working Day otherwise 10.00 
on the next Working Day 
thereafter.

Proof of delivery.

First class letter addressed to the 
nominated representative at the 
address for service.

48 hours after posting if that is a 
Working Day otherwise 10.00 on 
the next Working Day thereafter.

Proof of posting unless 
returned through the 
Post Office undelivered 
service within twenty 
one (21) days of 
posting.

Facsimile addressed to the 
nominated representative at the 
address for service.

Day of transmission if before 
16.00 on a Working Day 
otherwise 10.00 on the next 
Working Day thereafter.

Transmission report 
showing a successful 
transmission to the 
correct number plus proof 
of posting of a hard copy.

36.2 Each Council’s address for service is the address set out at the start of this Agreement or 
such other address as it notifies to the other in writing.

36.3 The nominated representative for the receipt of notices under this Agreement is the Chief 
Executive of each Council or such other person as that Council nominates by written notice to 
the other.

Page 54



 

26

IN WITNESS hereof the parties hereto have executed this Agreement as a Deed the day and year first 
written 

The Common Seal of )
West Berkshire District Council )
was affixed to this Deed in the )
presence of and attested by: )

 

 Authorised sealing officer

The Common Seal of )
Wokingham Borough Council )
was affixed to this Deed in the )
presence of and attested by: )

Authorised signatory

The Common Seal of )
Bracknell Forest Borough Council )
was affixed to this Deed in the )
presence of and attested by: )

Authorised signatory

Page 55



 

27

SCHEDULE 1 - GOVERNANCE

The Councils shall set up the following governance arrangements.

1 Joint Committee 

1.1 The purpose of the Councils in establishing the Joint Committee is to facilitate an effective joint 
approach between the Councils in delivering the Services. 

1.2 For the avoidance of doubt, the Joint Committee shall have decision making powers vested in it by 
the Councils and is a Joint Committee for the purposes of the Local Government Act 1972 and the 
Local Government Act 2000.

2 Interpretation

2.1 Unless expressly stated otherwise the expressions within this Schedule 1 will have the same 
meaning as in the main body of this Agreement.

3 The membership of the Joint Committee

3.1 The Joint Committee shall comprise six voting members. One member from each authority shall be 
an executive member. The second member is any other non-executive member who is appointed by 
the Council or Leader of each Council (depending upon who has the authority to make the 
appointment). 

3.2 Each Council or Leader will nominate a substitute executive member who may act as substitute for 
both the executive and non- executive member of the Joint Committee. The substitute member is 
entitled to attend all meetings of the Joint Committee but will only be classed as a member of the 
Joint Committee and vote when acting as a substitute. 

3.3 Each member of the Joint Committee shall act in the overall interests of the Joint Committee.

3.4 Each member of the Joint Committee shall comply with the Members’ Code of Conduct and relevant 
training programmes of their Council when acting as a Member of the Joint Committee.

3.5 The Joint Committee shall appoint one of its Members to be Chairman of the Joint Committee who 
shall, unless he or she resigns his or her office or ceases to be a member of the Joint Committee, 
continue in office for a period of up to 16 months or until his/her successor becomes entitled to act.

3.6 The first Chairman of the Joint Committee shall be a person nominated by [Wokingham] and shall 
hold office for the period up to Annual Council in May 2018.

3.7 The Chairmanship of the Joint Committee following the initial appointment shall rotate between the 
three Councils on an annual cycle. The Vice Chairman shall ordinarily become the next Chairman.

3.8 The Joint Committee shall appoint one of its Members to be Vice Chairman of the Joint Committee 
who shall, unless he or she resigns his or her office or ceases to be a member of the Joint 
Committee, continue in office for a period of 16 months or until his/her successor becomes entitled to 
act.

3.9 The first Vice Chairman of the Joint Committee shall be a person nominated by [Bracknell Forest] 
and shall hold office for the period up to Annual Council in May 2018.

3.10 The Vice Chairmanship of the Joint Committee following the initial appointment shall rotate between 
the three Councils on an annual cycle.

3.11 The chairman shall have a casting vote. 

Page 56



 

28

3.12 The role of Treasurer to the Joint Committee will be provided by the Chief Finance Officer and the 
role of Secretary to the Joint Committee will be provided by the Host Council.

4 The terms of reference of the Joint Committee

4.1 The terms of reference of the Joint Committee are as set out in the Responsibilities in Appendix A 

5 Meetings of the Joint Committee

5.1 The Joint Committee shall hold meetings twice yearly unless otherwise determined by the Joint 
Committee. The venue for the meetings will alternate between locations in Berkshire. The costs of 
the meeting shall be borne by the Council which is hosting the meeting of the Joint Committee.

5.2 The first meeting of the Joint Committee shall held on {insert date} February 2016. 

5.3 The Joint Committee may in every year hold in addition other meetings as they may determine 
necessary. 

6 Role of the Joint Management Board

6.1 The Joint Management Board shall be a senior level forum for advice, consultation, discussion, 
resolution of issues and recommendations back to the Joint Committee or the Councils on all 
aspects of the delivery of the Service. 

6.2 The membership of the Joint Management Board shall be: 

6.2.1 A senior officer from Bracknell Forest; A senior officer from West Berkshire; A Senior 
officer from Wokingham:  The West Berkshire Head of Culture and Environmental 
Protection; and the joint Service Managers of the PPP. 

6.3 The terms of reference for the Joint Management Board are as set out in the Responsibilities in 
Appendix 1 to this Schedule 

6.4 The Joint Management Board will meet every three (3) months or more frequently as agreed. 

7 Joint Management Team

7.1 A Joint Management Team, comprising the joint Service Managers of the PPP and such other 
professional and practitioner officers as determined by the Joint Management Team, meeting as 
required, to oversee the general operation of the Service, as set out in the Responsibilities in 
Appendix 1.

8 Changes to the Constitution

8.1 No change may be made to the governance arrangements of the Joint Committee in this Schedule 1 
unless it has been agreed unanimously at a meeting of the Joint Committee.

8.2 Each of the Councils may request a change to the constitution of the Joint Committee by sending to 
the Joint Committee:

8.2.1 Details in writing of the proposed change to the governance arrangements;

8.2.2 A request in writing for the proposed change to be included in the agenda for the next 
meeting of the Joint Committee.

8.3 If the Joint Committee agrees to a change to the governance arrangements of the Joint Committee, 
the change shall take effect immediately after it has been agreed.  The costs associated with the 
agreed change shall be shared between the Councils in accordance with the Agreed Percentages, 
unless agreed otherwise. 

Page 57



 

29

9 Additional councils

9.1 The PPP shall be able to provide the Services or ancillary services to any councils, shared services 
or authorities (“Additional Council”) in addition to the Councils party to this agreement subject to the 
provisions of this paragraph 9 and provided that the engagement of an Additional Council shall not 
create any detriment to the cost and quality of the services provided to nor otherwise be injurious to 
the interests of the Council’s party to this agreement.  Such services may be provided contractually 
or may be undertaken by the Additional Council joining a shared service arrangement with the 
Councils.

9.2 It is agreed by the Councils that requests from Additional Councils to join the PPP will be actively 
considered by the Joint Committee.  The Joint Committee will discuss any such requests taking into 
account:

9.2.1 Whether the enlargement of the PPP will improve the cost effectiveness and 
sustainability of the PPP;

9.2.2 Ensuring no detriment to the level and quality of service provided to the Councils; 

9.2.3 The implications of Additional Councils joining the PPP on this Agreement;

9.2.4 Ensuring the Councils incur no additional costs. 

9.3 Discussions on this issue will be approached in the spirit of partnership and good faith and the Joint 
Committee will seek to agree an outcome which will be at no detriment to the cost or quality of the 
Service provided to the Councils.

9.4 If having considered the request by an Additional Council to join the PPP the Joint Committee 
determine that the criteria set out in 9.2 above are met they shall make a recommendation for 
consideration by the Councils.  

10.  STANDING ORDERS

9.1 The standing orders and procedure rules of the Host Council will apply to meetings of the Joint 
Committee and the transaction of business through PPP unless otherwise provided for in this 
Agreement. 

9.2 The quorum for any meeting of the Joint Committee will be three members being at least one voting 
executive member or their substitute from each Council. 

9.3 The Joint Committee shall be responsible for agreeing any virement within the total cost of the 
Service where that exceeds the level of officer delegation to approve virement within the Host 
Council's Standing Orders and is within the agreed Budget for the Service.

9.4 Virement outside of the agreed Budget and Policy framework will require approval by the Councils. 

Page 58



 

30

APPENDIX 1 - RESPONSIBILITIES

Joint Committee Joint Management Board Joint Management Team
Purpose: To provide strategic direction 

and make key decisions that enable 
this

Purpose: Advisory Purpose: Delivery & Operational 
Decisions

Meeting frequency: Twice each year, or 
more frequently if deemed necessary.

Meeting frequency: Quarterly Meeting frequency: Monthly

Led by: Executive Members Led by: Senior Officers Led by: Two Joint Service Managers
Comprises:

JC Members: Executive Member from 
each Council plus one further Non- 

Executive Member from each Council
One Substitute Executive/Non- 

Executive Members from each Council
The Chair to have a casting vote unless 

otherwise stated in the Agreement.

Comprises:
Senior Client Officer identified by 
each of the Councils and the two 

Joint Service Managers

Comprises:
Two Joint Service Managers and 

Operational Team Managers

Responsibilities assigned:
To provide strategic direction for the 
service and monitor delivery of the 

Service.

To act as an informal sounding 
board for the Joint Committee. The 

Board shall be a forum for 
consultation, discussion, resolution 
of issues and recommendation to 

the Joint Committee on all aspects 
of delivery of the service.

Day to day management of the 
Service, including providing statutory 

returns: monitoring day to day 
performance of the Service and 

teams: responding to information 
needs identified by the Joint 

Committee or Joint Management 
Board.

To ensure effective performance of the 
Service:

Agreeing key performance indicators at 
a strategic level for the Service by the 

end of February in the preceding 
financial year:

Formally by considering performance 
against agreed measures.

To review reports from the Joint 
Management Team to work 

collaboratively with the Service to 
improve overall performance, 

helping ensure links are made to 
other Council Services and helping 
to break down barriers that inhibit 
performance. (Capitalising on the 

Board’s networks)

Production of reports to be 
considered by the Joint Committee or 
Joint Management Board including:
An annual report on delivery of the 
Business Plan: Proposed charges: 
Performance against key measures 

(which may include statutory returns); 
HR issues and Resource issues 

where relevant.
To set the overall strategic direction of 

the service through developing and 
agreeing the business plan.

To be consulted on the draft 
Business Plan, including priorities 

and measures.

Production of a draft Business Plan 
for the coming financial year, 

including service priorities and 
anticipated performance measures.

To set key policy for the service taking 
into account relevant information.

To be consulted on proposed key 
policy changes – where relevant / 

necessary.

To develop reports on proposed key 
policy changes e.g. Enforcement 

Policy.
To consider and agree key policy 

documents
To be aware of the joint service 
policy in respect to prosecutions 

and other disposals.

 

To maintain financial oversight of the 
Service to ensure sound financial 

management. To propose fee structure, 
annual budget to the Councils and 

agree any variations from the budget 
from the Inter Authority Agreement.

To quarterly review the budget 
monitoring information

Monitor the budget, approve spend in 
accordance with Standing Orders for 
financial processes. Provide budget 
monitoring reports to the JMB and 

JC.

To monitor delivery of the Business To provide support and guidance To provide annual reports to the 

Page 59



 

31

Case including delivery of savings and 
additional income.

to the Joint Management Team to 
assist achievement of delivering 

the Business Case.

JMB/JC on delivery of the business 
case.

To decide how to spend any additional 
surplus income, additional savings or 

under spend – whether these should be 
reinvested in the Service or returned to 

each local authority in the usual 
proportions.

To suggest alternatives for the 
Joint Management Team to 

develop and to provide 
constructive challenge to ideas to 

enable the Joint Committee to 
make well informed decisions.

To provide comprehensive 
information on possible ways to 

spend any additional surplus 
income/savings or under spend 
including a consideration of the 

impact of any such spend.
To receive reports on the performance 

of the Inter Authority Agreement.
To identify defaults against the 
Inter Authority Agreement and 

resolve these to the satisfaction of 
both Councils.

To monitor operational delivery 
against strategic priorities

Page 60



 

32

SCHEDULE 2 - RELEVANT FUNCTIONS

1 Excluded Functions 

1.1 For the avoidance of doubt each of the Council's Licensing Committees do not form part of the 
Relevant Functions.

2 Relevant Functions

2.1 The Relevant Functions shall be those environmental, licensing, gambling, trading standards and 
related functions set out in the following list of legislation ("the statutes") together with:

(a) Any amendments, modifications or replacements to the statutes

(b) Any new legislation relating to the trading standards or environmental health and 
licensing functions of local authorities or in other ways related to the statutes 

(c) Any subsidiary legislation or statutory guidance made under the statutes or under 
provisions in (a) and (b) above 

(d) Any other function or a local authority calculated to facilitate or conductive or 
incidental to the functions in the statutes or any provisions in (a), (b) and (c) above 

(e) The Primary Authority functions of a local authority as set out in the Regulatory, 
Enforcement and Sanctions Act 2008 and

(f) The general power of competence in section 1 Localism Act 2011. 

2.2 The Statutes are:

Administration of Justice Act 1970

Agricultural Act 1970

Animal Boarding Establishments Act 1963

Animal Health Act 1981

Animal Welfare Act 2006

Animals Act 1971

Anti Social Behaviour Act 2003

Anti-social Behaviour Crime and Policing Act 2014

Berkshire Act 1980

Breeding of Dogs Act 1973, 1991

Building Act 1984

Cancer Act 1939

Caravan Act 1968, 1985

Caravan Sites and Control of Development Act 1960-1985

Charities Act 1992

Children and Young Persons (Protection from Tobacco) Act 1991

Children and Young Persons Act 1933

Chiropractors Act 1994

Chronically Sick and Disabled Persons Act 1970

Cinema Act 1968-1985

Clean Air Acts 1956-1993

Page 61



 

33

Clean Neighbourhoods and Environment Act 2005

Companies Act 2006

Consumer Credit Act 1974, 2006

Consumer Protection Act 1987

Consumer Rights Act 2015

Control of Pollution Act 1974

Copyright Designs and Patents Act 1988

Courts and Legal Services Act 1990

Crime and Disorder Act 1997

Criminal Justice Act 1988

Criminal Justice and Public Order Act 1994

Customs & Excise (Management) Act 1979

Dangerous Dogs Act 1991

Dangerous Wild Animals Act 1976

Disabled Persons Act 1981

Dogs (Fouling of Land) Act 1996

Education Reform Act 1988

Enterprise Act 2002

Environment Act 1995

Environmental Protection Act 1990

Estate Agents Act 1979

European Communities Act 1972

Explosives Act 1875, 1923

Factories Act 1961

Financial Services and Markets Act 2000

Fireworks Act 2003

Food and Environment Protection Act 1985

Food Safety Act 1990

Forgery and Counterfeiting Act 1981

Fraud Act 2006

Gambling Act 2005

Guard Dogs Act 1975

Hallmarking Act 1973

Health Act 2006

Health and Safety at Work etc. Act 1974

Home Safety Act 1961

Housing Acts 1957, 1985, 1996, 2004

Housing Grants, Construction and Regeneration Act 1996

Intoxicating Substances (Supply) Act 1985

Knives Act 1997

Land Compensation Act 1973

Late Night Refreshment Houses Act 1969

Page 62



 

34

Licensing Act 2003

Local Government (Miscellaneous Provisions) Act 1976, 1982

Local Government Acts 1953-1989

Local Government Act 1972

Local Government and Housing Act 1989

Malicious Communications Act 1988

National Assistance (Amendment) Act 1951

National Assistance Act 1948

National Lotteries etc Act 1993

Noise Act 1996

Noise and Statutory Nuisance Act 1993

Offices, Shops and Railway Premises Act 1963

Olympic Symbols etc. (Protection) Act 1995

Osteopaths Act 1993

Performing Animals (Regulation) Act 1925

Pesticides Act 1996

Pet Animals Act 1951

Pollution, Prevention and Control Act 1999

Prevention of Damage by Pests Act 1949

Prices Acts 1974

Private Hire Vehicles (Carriage of Guide Dogs etc.) Act 2002

*Proceeds of Crime Act 2002*

Protection from Harassment Act 1997

Psychoactive Substances Act 2016

Public Health (Control of Disease) Act 1984

Public Health Act 1936-1984

Radioactive Substances Act 1993

Rag Flock Act 1961

Regulation of Investigatory Powers Act 2000

Regulatory Enforcement and Sanctions Act 2008

Riding Establishments Act 1964, 1970

Road Traffic (Foreign Vehicles) Act 1972

Road Traffic Act 1988, 1991

Road Traffic Regulation Act 1984

Safety of Sports Grounds Act 1975

Scotch Whisky Act 1982

Scrap Metal Dealers Act 1964, 2013

Slaughter of Poultry Act 1967

Slaughterhouses Act 1974

Solicitors Act 1974

Sunbeds (Regulation) Act 2010

Sunday Trading Act 1994

Page 63



 

35

Tattooing of Minors Act 1969

Theatres Act 1968

Theft Act 1968

Tobacco Advertising and Promotion Act 2002

Tobacco Products Duty Act 1979

Town Police Clauses Acts 1847-1889

Trade Descriptions Act 1968

Trade Marks Act 1994

Transport Act 1980

Unsolicited Goods and Services Act 1971, 1975

Vehicles (Crime) Act 2001

Video Recordings Act 1984, 2010

Violent Crime Reduction Act 2006

Water Acts 1945-1989

Water Industries Act 1991

Weights and Measures Act 1985

Zoo Licensing Act 1981

* Accredited financial investigators are authorised by the National Crime Agency  

a) any Orders or Regulations made there-under or relating to any of the foregoing or having effect 
by virtue of the European Communities Act 1972; or any statute that may replace the European 
Communities Act 1972 resulting from any decision by the United Kingdom to leave the European 
Union or enter into alternative arrangements with the European Union and;

b) any offence under any legislation, or at common law, which is of a similar nature or related to 
the foregoing including offences of aiding, abetting, counselling and procuring, incitement, 
conspiracy, perverting the course of justice and criminal attempts; and

c) any modification or re-enactment to the foregoing.

Page 64



 

36

SCHEDULE 3 - BRANDING

1. The service will be known as the  Public Protection Partnership. The identifiers for the 
Service are set out below:

             

 

   

2. Joint branding (the West Berkshire Crest and Wokingham Crest along with the Bracknell 
Deer) will also be deployed across all collateral including digital presence. 

3. A statement of acknowledgement (e.g. ‘A shared service provided by Bracknell Forest 
District Council, West Berkshire District Council and Wokingham Borough Council’) will be 
deployed across all collateral (including digital presence) 

4. These branding principles will be reviewed as part of the mainstream review process 
enshrined in this Agreement. This will include any instances not specified within this 
Schedule, such as new independent structures and subsidiaries, which will be subject to 
mutual agreement of specific guidance between the two Councils.

5. Each Council reserves the right to withdraw its branding at any time.

Page 65



 

37

SCHEDULE 4 – AGREED PERCENTAGES AND BUDGET SETTING

Definitions:

Budget means the total monies allocated to the PPP for each Financial Year by the Councils from 
time to time and includes employee costs, supplies and services and income.

Initial Budget means the forecast Budget for the remainder of the Financial Year 16/17 and full 
Financial Year 17/18 including Start-up costs.

Major Adjustment means an increase or decrease in the contributions paid by the Councils which 
amounts to a change of 2.5% or more of the total Budget for that Financial Year.

Minor Adjustment means an increase or decrease in the contributions paid by the Councils which 
amounts to a change of less than 2.5% of the total Budget for that Financial Year.

Start-up Costs means the costs associated the integration of the individual Council services into 
the PPP, asidentified in Appendix 1 to this Schedule and will be included in the initial payment for 
16/17 Financial Year based on the Agreed Percentages.

Submission Date means 30 November or such other date agreed between the Councils from time 
to time.

Threshold Limit means the amount of £50,000 or such other sum as agreed between the 
Councils from time to time.

Unbudgeted Expenditure means an expense that is unaccounted for in the Budget for that 
Financial Year.

Year End Reconciliation means an annual reconciliation undertaken by West Berkshire of the 
actual expenditure of the PPP against the Budget and contributions made by the Councils during 
that Financial Year.

First Financial Years

The Initial Budget of the PPP to cover the period from commencement of the Agreement until 31st 
March 2017 shall be {insert} and the Agreed Percentages for the period 1st April 2017 to 31st March 
2018 and the budget allocated to PPP shall be {insert} and the percentages shall be as below.

shall be:

Bracknell Forest – 27%

West Berkshire – 40%

Wokingham – 33%

Future Financial Years

The recommended Budget and Agreed Percentage figures for the PPP for each subsequent 
Financial Year shall be prepared by the Joint Committee and sent to the Councils for consideration 
by the Submission Date during the immediately preceding Financial Year. 

In preparing its recommended Budget and Agreed Percentage figures, the Joint Committee shall 
specifically consider:

Page 66



 

38

- The previous expenditure of the PPP and levels of service achieved;

- Any proposals for the development of the PPP or the services it offers;

- Any material changes in the activities provided by the PPP to either Council or any 
requests by either Council to make material changes in the following Financial Year; and

- Any other matters of relevance from time to time. 

The Councils shall consider the recommendations as part of their internal budget setting processes 
and the Joint Committee shall provide such assistance and response as is necessary to meet 
financial challenges or alternative proposals that may be put forward by the  Councils. 

The final Budget for the forthcoming Financial Year shall be approved by each Council by no later 
than the 28 February in the immediately preceding Financial Year.

Payments 

Bracknell Forest and Wokingham shall pay its Agreed Percentage of the Budget for any given 
Financial Year to West Berkshire in two equal instalments falling due on the 1st April and 1st 
October in any year. For the remainder of 2016/17 the payment shall fall due on the date of 
commencement 

Any additional payments due by Bracknell Forest or Wokingham to West Berkshire in accordance 
with the following provisions of this Schedule shall be made within 30 days of notification. 

Monitoring and Adjustments 

The actual spend of the PPP against its Budget for each Financial Year shall be monitored by 
West Berkshire throughout the year and formally reviewed at the 6 month point by the Joint 
Committee. The Joint Committee shall then determine whether any action is necessary to ensure 
the forecast spend closely aligns with the Budget for that Financial Year or if an adjustment to the 
contributions allocated by the Councils is appropriate to meet the forecasted year end position:

- If a Minor Adjustment is necessary this shall be implemented from the 6 month period 
until the end of the Financial Year to which it applies; 

- If a Major Adjustment is necessary this shall be referred back to the Councils respective 
Executives for consideration and to agree a resolution within 60 days. 

Unbudgeted Costs

In the event that the PPP incurs Unbudgeted Expenditure this shall be reviewed by the Joint 
Committee for appropriate action: 

- If the Unbudgeted Expenditure exceeds the Threshold Limit, the Joint Committee shall 
submit this sum to the Councils for payment as a one-off cost, split between them in the 
Agreed Percentages for that Financial Year. The Joint Committee shall also issue a 
report to the Councils detailing why the cost occurred and any actions that may be 
necessary to avoid a similar situation in the future; 

- If the Unbudgeted Expenditure does not exceed the Threshold Limit, the Joint 
Committee shall authorise the payment out of the existing Budget for that Financial Year 
and deal with any shortfall by way of the Minor Adjustment or Year End Reconciliation 
processes;

Page 67



 

39

- If the Unbudgeted Expenditure arises as a result of a request from one Council and 
relates wholly to that Council, then the cost shall be borne by that Council alone. 

Emergency Payments

In the event that the PPP has to incur Unbudgeted Expenditure in the event of an emergency then 
the Councils hereby authorise such expenditure provided that the PPP shall promptly refer such 
payments to the Joint Committee for ratification of the expenditure already made and authorisation 
of any further expenditure to deal with the emergency situation. For the purposes of this paragraph 
an emergency shall be situations beyond the control of the Councils which are unforeseen and 
unavoidable and which result in a risk to the protection of the public.

Year End Reconciliation

The Chief Finance Officer of West Berkshire shall be responsible for ensuring that there is a Year 
End Reconciliation within reasonable time period at the end of the Financial Year. The result of this 
reconciliation shall be reported to the Joint Committee and in the event that: 

- A surplus has been generated then West Berkshire shall make payments to the Councils 
in the Agreed Percentages for that Financial Year as are necessary to clear the surplus; 

- A shortfall has been identified then the Councils shall make payments in the Agreed 
Percentages for that Financial Year as are necessary to clear the shortfall; 

- The surplus or shortfall is de minimis then it shall be carried forward/written off without 
further payments being due. The de minimis figure shall be agreed between the Councils 
from time to time.

Page 68



 

40

SCHEDULE 5 – SERVICE SPECIFICATION 

Priorities: In addition to enforcing the legislation set out in Schedule 2 (the Relevant Functions) the PPP will 
support the corporate priorities of the Councils and align its work to those priorities.

At the time of the Agreement, the agreed priorities are:

1. Community Protection

 Contribute to the effective tackling of crime and disorder
 Tackling the issues that cause the greatest harm to individuals and communities
 Protection of the most vulnerable residents
 To act as champion for the local area
 Providing safeguards to the community through an effective licensing service

2. Protecting and Improving Health

 Protecting people from harmful products and services (including food)
 Allowing residents to make informed choices on matters that impact their health
 Developing and delivering initiatives designed to improve and enhance the health and wellbeing of 

individuals
 Supporting relevant priorities identified by local Strategic Joint Needs Assessments
 Tackling the causes of health inequalities

3.  Protection of the Environment

 Protecting the environment from harm 
 Tackling those that chose to harm the environment

4. Supporting Prosperity and Economic Growth 

 Supporting compliant local businesses to thrive through the provision of advice and guidance
 Protecting businesses from illegal activities that damage their economic interests
 Supporting the rural economy 

5. Effective and improving service delivery

 Implementation of the national intelligence model to identify and effectively tackle priority areas
 Building effective working relationship with key partners within the Councils to deliver the key 

objectives of the Service and the Councils
 Building effective relationships with key external partners including Thames Valley Police, Royal 

Berkshire Fire and Rescue Service, housing providers, other local authorities, national and regional 
delivery bodies and community based groups and organizations. 

 Improvement and enhancement of the service through effective evaluation and quality management
 Communicating well with local people and businesses  

Aims: The key Strategic Aims of that build the case for the Partnership are:

 The sharing of expertise and best practice
 The creation of greater resilience and robustness to cope with unforeseen challenges such as 

disease outbreaks, large scale investigations or loss of key personnel 
 Sharing and developing resources to drive efficiency and effectiveness including systems and areas 

of specialist knowledge such as legal, finance and investigative skills
 Eliminating duplication by needing to do things only once across all locations and elements of the 

service for example procedures and standard documentation
 Building on the success and innovation of the partners to the Agreement and learning from each 

other and implementing that learning.

Page 69



 

41

 The effective use of communication to protect communities and enhance the reputation of the 
Partnership and the Councils

 Reduce costs by operating jointly
 Making effective use of partnership funding, service specific grants and monies received from the 

Proceeds of Crime Incentivisation Scheme 
 Development of the service in ways which drive further efficiencies and service improvements
 Playing our role and enhancing our reputation on a regional and national level

Enforcement Policy: The following Enforcement Policy will apply: 

(1) the Regulators Code will form the basis for the general approach to delivery of the Service; and

(2) the Code for Crown Prosecutors (as amended from time to time) will be the policy basis for decisions 
on institution or otherwise of legal proceedings 

Key Performance Indicators for 2017/18

 Decreasing the level of detriment suffered by residents 
 Increasing levels of compliance in critical areas
 Effective budget management and use of resources
 Preventing residents from harm through expanding the use of social media and key communication 

channels
 Maintain high levels of customer and business satisfaction

Page 70



 

42

Page 71



 

43

SCHEDULE 6– BRACKNELL FOREST EMPLOYEES

Page 72



 

44

Page 73



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 74



West Berkshire Council Executive 24 November 2016

Registering West Berkshire Council as a 
Registered Provider - Summary Report

Committee considering 
report: Executive

Date of Committee: 24 November 2016
Portfolio Member: Councillor Hilary Cole
Date Portfolio Member 
agreed report: 13 October 2016

Report Author: Mel Brain
Forward Plan Ref: EX3205

1. Purpose of the Report

1.1 To seek approval for the Council to register as a Registered Provider (RP) with the 
Homes & Communities Agency (HCA).

2. Recommendation(s)

2.1 It is recommended that the Council applies to become a RP - Please see the Part II 
report for further information. 

3. Implications

3.1 Financial: Please see Part II report.
By becoming a RP, the Council would be required to 
adhere to the national rent formula for social tenancies and 
this would mean a rent reduction of 1% a year until 
2019/20.

3.2 Policy: RPs are regulated by the HCA. Economic Standards would 
not applicable to Local Authorities but the Consumer 
Standards would be applied. It is for the Council to 
determine the best way in which to meet the Standards and 
given the low numbers of stock held by the Council, light-
touch regulation would be applied, which means that the 
HCA are only likely to step in if there is a risk of, or actual, 
serious harm or detriment to a tenant.

3.3 Personnel: There are no staffing implications.

3.4 Legal: Legal advice has been sought and there are not thought to 
be any significant legal issues in terms of registering. 
Please see Part II report. Legal input would be required for 
the purchase of Fountain Gardens.

3.5 Risk Management: As regulation for RPs with less than 1000 units is light-
touch, and given that only the Consumer Standards apply, 
the risk to the Council if becoming a RP is considered to be 
low.

Page 75

Agenda Item 7.



Registering West Berkshire Council as a Registered Provider - Summary Report

West Berkshire Council Executive 24 November 2016

3.6 Property: Please see Part II report. All current temporary 
accommodation stock would be subject to the RP status.

3.7 Other: n/a

4. Other options considered

4.1 Please see Part II report.

Page 76



Registering West Berkshire Council as a Registered Provider - Summary Report

West Berkshire Council Executive 24 November 2016

5. Executive Summary

5.1 Please see Part II report for further information.

5.2 It has been suggested by the HCA that the Council becomes a Registered Provider 
to facilitate purchase of additional property for the purposes of providing temporary 
accommodation to meet statutory homeless duties.

5.3 RPs are subject to regulation by the HCA. Regulation must be delivered in a way 
that minimises interference and is proportionate, consistent, transparent and 
accountable.

5.4 RPs are expected to meet seven Regulatory Standards, which fall under the 
headings of ‘economic’ or consumer’. The Economic Standards cover the 
Governance and Financial Viability Standard, the Value for Money Standard and the 
Rent Standard. Economic standards apply to all registered providers except for 
local authorities because the regulator has no power to set economic standards for 
local authorities

5.5 The Consumer Standards cover theTenant Involvement and Empowerment 
Standard, the Home Standard, the Tenancy Standard and the Neighbourhood and 
Community Standard. The purpose of Consumer Standards is to ensure delivery of 
quality social housing, provide tenants with an opportunity to be involved in the 
management of their housing and hold their landlords to account and to encourage 
RPs to contribute to the environmental, social and economic well-being of the areas 
in which the housing is situated. It would be for the Council to determine the most 
appropriate way to meet the Standards bearing in mind the type of tenancies 
offered.

5.6 Providers which own fewer than a thousand social housing units collectively 
account for less than 5% of the sector’s total assets, turnover and debt and are 
subject to a lower level of regulatory engagement. West Berkshire Council, should it 
choose to become a RP, would fall into this category and would therefore be subject 
to light-touch regulation i.e. the regulator would only step in if they considered that 
there was actual or potential risk of serious detriment or harm to tenants.

5.7 Other issues that have been considered include: 

(1) Right to Buy, which would not be applicable;

(2) Rent reduction, of 1% a year until 2019/20, which would need to be 
applied;

(3) Creation of a Housing Revenue Account – it is believed that we would 
not need to re-create a HRA and assets could continue to be held in 
the General Fund

(4) Registration with the Housing Ombudsman - the HCA have advised 
that we would remain with the Local Government Ombudsman. 

5.8 Overall, therefore, it would appear that the risk to the Council of becoming a RP is 
relatively low. Becoming a RP is a status, rather than an entity. It would not require 
a management structure, have staffing implications or require a strategic approach, 
other than we would already have in place as a Housing Service. 

Page 77



Registering West Berkshire Council as a Registered Provider - Summary Report

West Berkshire Council Executive 24 November 2016

6. Conclusion

6.1 In conclusion, the risk to the Council of taking this step appears to be low-risk and it 
is therefore recommended that the Council applies to become a RP. Please see 
Part II report for further information.

7. Appendices

7.1 Appendix A - Supporting Information

7.2 Appendix B – Equalities Impact Assessment

Page 78



West Berkshire Council Executive 24 November 2016

Appendix A

Registering West Berkshire Council as a Registered 
Provider – Supporting Information

1. Introduction/Background

1.1 Please see Part II report for further information.

1.2 It has been suggested by the HCA that the Council becomes a Registered Provider 
to facilitate purchase of additional property for the purposes of providing temproary 
accommodation to meet statutory homeless duties.

2. Supporting Information

2.1 The HCA maintains a statutory register of social housing providers (the register) 
which lists private (not-for-profit and for-profit) providers and local authority 
providers. Most not-for-profit providers are also known as housing associations. 
Providers on the register are known as Registered Providers (RP’s).

2.2 RPs are subject to regulation by the HCA, the purpose of which is to:

 protect social housing assets
 ensure providers are financially viable and properly governed
 maintain confidence of lenders to invest into the sector
 encourage and support supply of social housing
 ensure tenants are protected and have opportunities to be involved in the 

management of their housing
 ensure value for money in service delivery

2.3 Regulation must be delivered in a way that minimises interference and is 
proportionate, consistent, transparent and accountable.

2.4 RPs are expected to meet seven Regulatory Standards, which fall under the 
headings of ‘economic’ or consumer’.

2.5 The Economic Standards cover the Governance and Financial Viability Standard, 
the Value for Money Standard and the Rent Standard. Economic standards apply to 
all registered providers except for local authorities because the regulator has no 
power to set economic standards for local authorities

2.6 The Consumer Standards cover theTenant Involvement and Empowerment 
Standard, the Home Standard, the Tenancy Standard and the Neighbourhood and 
Community Standard. The purpose of Consumer Standards is to ensure delivery of 
quality social housing, provide tenants with an opportunity to be involved in the 
management of their housing and hold their landlords to account and to encourage 
RPs to contribute to the environmental, social and economic well-being of the areas 
in which the housing is situated.

2.7 The HCA takes a co-regulation approach.  This means: 

Page 79



Registering West Berkshire Council as a Registered Provider – Supporting Information

West Berkshire Council Executive 24 November 2016

(1) They regard Board Members and Councillors as responsible for 
ensuring that providers’ businesses are managed effectively and that 
providers comply with all regulatory requirements 

(2) Providers must support tenants to shape and scrutinise service delivery 
and to hold Boards and Councillors to account 

(3) They operate as an assurance-based regulator, seeking assurance 
from providers as to compliance with the standards. In other words, the 
onus is on providers to demonstrate their compliance to the regulator. 
Where they lack the requisite assurance, this will be reflected in the 
judgements they reach. 

2.8 Providers which own fewer than a thousand social housing units collectively 
account for less than 5% of the sector’s total assets, turnover and debt and are 
subject to a lower level of regulatory engagement. West Berkshire Council, should it 
choose to become a RP, would fall into this category and would therefore be subject 
to light-touch regulation i.e. the regulator would only step in if they considered that 
there was actual or potential risk of serious detriment or harm to tenants.

2.9 Overall, therefore, it would appear that the risk to the Council of becoming a RP  is 
relatively low. Becoming a RP is a status, rather than an entity. It would not require 
a management structure, have staffing implications or require a strategic approach, 
other than we would already have in place as a Housing Service. 

2.10 There are a number of other issues that need to be taken into account:

(1) Housing Revenue Account (HRA) – the Council does not have an HRA 
and does not wish to create one. Advice has been sought and 
properties held for the purposes of meeting statutory housing duties 
can be held as assets within the General Fund. It is therefore 
understood that becoming a RP would not require the Council to re-
establish a HRA and that the stock could be retained within the General 
Fund. This is consistent with advice sought back in 2009 when options 
for the disposal of Taceham House were being considered.

(2) Right to Buy – the Council is holding its stock for the purpose of 
meeting statutory housing duties and all accommodation is offered 
under Part VII of the Housing Act 1996 (as amended). This means they 
are offered as non-secure tenancies and licenses and therefore Right 
to Buy would not apply to these tenancies and licenses.

(3) Rent reduction – the Government has introduced a 1% rent reduction 
each year until 2019/20 for RPs. The Council would need to adhere to 
this rent reduction when setting its rents.

(4) Housing Ombudsman – there is a fee charged by the Housing 
Ombudsman to join the scheme. The HCA have confirmed that the 
Council would not need to join this scheme and would continue to be 
subject to the Local Government Ombudsman.

Page 80



Registering West Berkshire Council as a Registered Provider – Supporting Information

West Berkshire Council Executive 24 November 2016

3. Options for Consideration

3.1 Please see Part II report for further information.

4. Conclusion

4.1 In conclusion, the risk to the Council of taking this step appears to be low-risk and it 
is therefore recommended that the Council applies to become a RP. Please see 
Part II report for further information

5. Consultation and Engagement

5.1 Advice has been sought from legal Services and Finance and other external 
agencies, as appropriate.

Background Papers:
N/A
NOTE: The section below does not need to be completed if your report will not 
progress beyond Corporate or Operations Board.
Subject to Call-In:
Yes:  No:  
If not subject to call-in please put a cross in the appropriate box by double-clicking on the box and selecting 
‘Checked’:
The item is due to be referred to Council for final approval
Delays in implementation could have serious financial implications for the Council
Delays in implementation could compromise the Council’s position
Considered or reviewed by Overview and Scrutiny Management Commission or 
associated Task Groups within preceding six months
Item is Urgent Key Decision
Report is to note only

Wards affected:
This decision would apply to the whole district.

Please put a cross in the appropriate box(es) by double-clicking on the box and selecting ‘Checked’:
Strategic Aims and Priorities Supported:
The proposals will help achieve the following Council Strategy aim:

P&S – Protect and support those who need it
The proposals contained in this report will help to achieve the following Council Strategy 
priority(ies):

SLE1 – Enable the completion of more affordable housing
The proposals contained in this report will help to achieve the above Council Strategy aims 
and priorities by ensuring provision of good quality and appropriately managed temporary 
accommodation to meet statutory homeless duties.

Officer details:
Name: Mel Brain
Job Title: Service Manager, Hosuing Strategy & Operations
Tel No: 01635 519403
E-mail Address: mel.brain@westberks.gov.uk 

Page 81

mailto:mel.brain@westberks.gov.uk


Registering West Berkshire Council as a Registered Provider – Supporting Information

West Berkshire Council Executive 24 November 2016

Appendix B

Equality Impact Assessment - Stage One

NOTE: Strategic Support is not able to accept your report without the following section 
being completed and an Equality Impact Assessment (EIA) being attached where required. 
For advice please visit http://intranet/EqIA or contact the Principal Policy Officer (Equality & 
Diversity) on Ext. 2441 or Team Leader/Solicitor - Corporate Team on Ext. 2626.

We need to ensure that our strategies, polices, functions and services, current and 
proposed have given due regard to equality and diversity.  

Please complete the following questions to determine whether a Stage Two, 
Equality Impact Assessment is required.

Name of policy, strategy or function: Registering West Berkshire Council as a 
Registered Provider

Version and release date of item (if 
applicable):

Owner of item being assessed: Mel Brain

Name of assessor: Mel Brain

Date of assessment: 16/11/2016

Is this a: Is this:

Policy Yes/No New or proposed Yes/No

Strategy Yes/No Already exists and is being 
reviewed Yes/No

Function Yes/No Is changing Yes/No

Service Yes/No

1. What are the main aims, objectives and intended outcomes of the policy, 
strategy function or service and who is likely to benefit from it?

Aims: To register west Berkshire Council as a Registered 
Provider.

Objectives: To provide good quality, affordable temporary 
accommodation within the District to meet statutory 
homeless duties.

Outcomes: Purchase of replacement/additional temporary 
accommodation

Benefits: Homeless households are accommodated locally, B&B 
costs are reduced and the Council meets its statutory 
duties.

2. Note which groups may be affected by the policy, strategy, function or 

Page 82

http://intranet/index.aspx?articleid=30266


Registering West Berkshire Council as a Registered Provider – Supporting Information

West Berkshire Council Executive 24 November 2016

service.  Consider how they may be affected, whether it is positively or 
negatively and what sources of information have been used to determine 
this.
(Please demonstrate consideration of all strands – Age, Disability, Gender 
Reassignment, Marriage and Civil Partnership, Pregnancy and Maternity, Race, 
Religion or Belief, Sex and Sexual Orientation.)

Group 
Affected What might be the effect? Information to support this

Age This policy should have no 
impact on this strand

Disability This policy should have no 
impact on this strand.

Gender 
Reassignment

This policy should have no 
impact on this strand.

Marriage and 
Civil 
Partnership

This policy should have no 
impact on this strand.

Pregnancy and 
Maternity

This policy should have no 
impact on this strand.

Race, Religion 
or Belief

This policy should have no 
impact on this strand.

Sex and 
Sexual 
Orientation

This policy should have no 
impact on this strand.

Further Comments relating to the item:

3. Result 

Are there any aspects of the policy, strategy, function or service, 
including how it is delivered or accessed, that could contribute to 
inequality?

Yes/No

Please provide an explanation for your answer:
Registering as a Registered Provider is a status, not an entity. Additional regulation 
will ensure effective operation of Housing Services, but will have no direct impact on 
how services are delivered or accessed.

Will the policy, strategy, function or service have an adverse impact 
upon the lives of people, including employees and service users? Yes/No

Please provide an explanation for your answer:
Registering as a Registered Provider is a status, not an entity. Additional regulation 
will ensure effective operation of Housing Services, but will have no direct impact on 
the lives of people, including employees or service users..

Page 83



Registering West Berkshire Council as a Registered Provider – Supporting Information

West Berkshire Council Executive 24 November 2016

If your answers to question 2 have identified potential adverse impacts and you 
have answered ‘yes’ to either of the sections at question 3, or you are unsure about 
the impact, then you should carry out a Stage 2 Equality Impact Assessment.

If a Stage Two Equality Impact Assessment is required, before proceeding you 
should discuss the scope of the Assessment with service managers in your area.  
You will also need to refer to the Equality Impact Assessment guidance and Stage 
Two template.

4. Identify next steps as appropriate:

Stage Two required No

Owner of Stage Two assessment: N/A

Timescale for Stage Two assessment: N/A

Stage Two not required: Yes

Name: Melanie Brain Date: 16/11/2016

Please now forward this completed form to Rachel Craggs, the Principal Policy 
Officer (Equality and Diversity) for publication on the WBC website.

Page 84



Document is Restricted

Page 85

Agenda Item 10.



This page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

Page 89



This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	2. Minutes
	6. Joint Public Protection Partnership (C3158)
	Joint Public Protection Partnership Supporting Information
	Joint Public Protection Partnership Appendix B Draft Inter Authority Agreement

	7. Registering West Berkshire Council as a Registered Provider (EX3205)
	Becoming a Registered Provider Supporting Information report Part I

	10. Registering West Berkshire Council as a Registered Provider (EX3205)
	Becoming a Registered Provider Supporting Info


